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ADVERTISEMENT.

Turs brief but interesting sketch of the late ope-
rations in Portugal, read to the Board of En-
quiry at Chelsea, is copied from the Editor’s own
account of the Proceedings. He presumes to
think his account, the most correct of any, hi-
therto, laid before the Public; and he, under
that impression, takes the liberty to recommend
it, accordingly.

He had motives beyond those of mere curiosity
to induce particular attention to this part- of the
B dings, and he, quently, ded in
making a, nearly, verbatim minute of it.

As the Report of the Board contains an ab-
stract of the Pr dings, he has xed that
Report, ‘conceiving that it might be acceptable to
many who would not wish for the more volumi-
nous publication. Those, however, who desire
further details will find them in the edition of
¢ The Prooeedmgs of the Board of Enquiry,”
above-mentioned.

- JirSs
No. 41, Pall Mall, *
2d January 1809.
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Reference to the Plan of the Attack on Sambuicra.

A. Thé Enemy's first Position. -
B. The Enemy's second Position,
Route of Generals Ferguson's and Bowes's Brigades,

Route of the Portuguese Troops. '
Route of General Hill's Brigade, and Cavalry,

F. Route of General Nightingale’s Brigade.

G. Route of General Fane’s, the Light, Brigade. »
“H. Route of General Crar.iurd’s, in reserve.

K. The Enemy’s third Position.

L. General Nightingale’s Brigade, advancing in line.

M. The 29th Regiment; carrying the heights in column.

N. The 45th Regiment, led by General Spéncer, advancing; against the

heights, in live. -

0.0.0. Position of the Troops after carrying the heights.

P. Advance of the Enemy three times to regain their position,

Q. Position of the army on the night of the 17th of August,

R. Road by which the Enemy retired, t
8. Stecp Rock, whence Sir Arthur Wellesley reconnoitred the Encmy.
T. High Road to Lisbon,
V. Water Course.

e o

Quarter-Master-General's Office,
riod Ras

Roference to the Sketch of the Battle of the 915t of Hugust,
1808, between the British and French Forces, near V;.
miera, in Portugal.

No. of Regiments. Generals Commanding,
36th, 40th, Tlst, 1. Genéral Ferguson's Pa.ma-.
6th, 32d, . s Bowes. “
29th, 82d, 8. ——— Nightingale,
2d, 20th, 95th, 4. Aclind. i
45th, 91st,” 5. ——— Craufurd,
9th, 38th, 5th, 6. ——Hin, -
20th Dragoons, and Portuguese, 7. Cavalry.
43d, 524, Oth, 97th, . 8. General Anstruher, v
50th, 60th, 95th, . L9, —— Fage, " .
1200 Infantry, ......,....... 10. Pnnu‘um./
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A.B.C. Position of the Troops at the time of the Atfack on the Centre
and Left.

A. General Craufurd and Portuguese, 45th, 91st,

B. General Ferguson, 36th, 40th, Tlst, $

€. General Nightingale, 82d.

D. General Acland, 24, 20th, 95th, having moved on his march towards
the flank of the Attack on the Centre,

E. General Bowes, 6tb, 324, 20th.

F. General Fane, 60th, 50th, 95th.

G General Amtruthar, (& battalioms) Ot 454, 591; 91th,

n. Cavalry, 20th Dragoons.
. General Hill, 5th, 9th, 38th.

x. Guns flanking the French Columns,

a.a.a. The farthest advance of General Fergusorr,

bbb, Ditto of General Craufurd.

Figures 1,2, 3, 4, Camp previous to the-Attack.

Quarter-Master-General's Office, Sept. 5, 1808,

—

Ezplanation relating to the Battle of the aist of August
between the British, wnder. Sir Arthur Welklky, and the
French Forces, under General Junot :

“Brigadier-General Anstruther’s brigade, and that of Brigadier-General
Fane, occupied a detached beight in front of the village of Vimiera, in
which Sir Arthur Wellesley's head-quarters were. The body of the ar-
my ing bill, about & hot farther back, to-
Sl the .,., baving its left at the ravine, in which the rivulet rurs,
themouth of which affords a comintinication with our shipping ; the right
was thrown back a little, en potence, towards the coast, with which our
general line, of front was nearly parallel. On the opposite side of the
raviti, (o our left, the ground rises gradually to The north fér about twe
wiles, which look towards Peniche.

The enemy formed two attacks: the one against the left and centre of

" the height in front of Visiera, the other conducted fron the heights that
look towards Peniche, down the lon slope, termitating at the ravine
on our lefi, somewhat in the rear of the village of Vimiera. Their at-

- gack on our advanced corps took place first, and was repulsed ; indeed a
‘vonsiderable_time before the action commenced upon the left, As the
movements of the enemy in that direction were observed in the morning,
Sir Arthur Wellesley had ordsred the troops destined to act on that side,
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,
o move ont of their original position, to meet the enemy’: they were
engaged when they had advanced about one-third of the way from the
summit of the long sloping heights already described, continued to drive
them (o the top of if, and dowh thence into the low grounds bes
youd; the British line halting upon the summit. The troops engaged in-

- this quarter were the brigades of Generals Ferguson and Nightingale, that
of General Acland supporting them. Their movement was perpendicu~
lar to the line of the coast, between which and their left, General Crau
furd’s brigade, and a corps of Portuguese advanced at the same timeg
but as these troops were somewhat farther back, and the French did not-
extend their right to the sca, they were not engaged. The advanced
corps had arders to maintain its ground, which it did with the great~
est bravery, repulsing the attacks made upon it, witha very heavy loss
to the enemy of men, and of several guns.

On the left the advance of the troops was firm aud regular, driving the
encmy from superior ground. The Frenci lost all the artillery they had
with the column that attended' them on that side. They made some
spirited attempts to recover the guns they were driven from, but which
failed to make any impression upon our men. No attack was made
against the right flank of the position, which was occupied by General
Hill's brigade.

Our small body of dngoonl pursued the enemy, on their being re-

pulsed from the attack on our advanced posts, but their eagerness carried
them a little too far,  The superior cavalry of the French made o very
decided efforts duFing the action, but seemed to content themselyes with
covering the rear of their two columns when driven back. Itmust be
allowed, ‘however, that the ground admitted of cavalry acting ooly in
particular parts. Many of the slopes are extremely abrupt, and several
of them covered with vines, and there are also many patcbes of wood, '

——

pr i

Extract of a letter from Lieutenant-General Sir Arthur
L5 Wellnky, dated head-quarters at Caldas, Aug.16,1808.
" 1 marched from Lyria on the 13th, and arrived at Ahobaca. on the
19th, which place the encmy had abandoned in the precéding night s and
1 arrived here yesterday. The enemy, about 4000 in mumber, were
‘posted about ten miles from hence, at Borica; and they occupied Brilos,
about three miles from hence, with their advanced posts. ~As the pos-
session of this last village was important to our future operations, I de-
“fermined to occupy it; and as soon as the British infantry arrived upan
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the ground, I directed that it might be occupied by a detachment, con-
sisting of four companies of riflemen of the 60th and 95th regiments. —
“Phe enemy, consisting of a small picquet of infantry and a few cavalry,
made a trifling resistance and retired ; but they were followed by a de-
tachment of our riflemen to the distance of three miles from Brilos. The
riflemen were then attacked by a superior body of the enemy, who at-
tempted to cut them off from the main body of the detachment to which
they belonged, which had now advanced to their support; larger bodics
af the cnemy appeared on both the flanks of the detachment, and it was
with difficulty that Major-General Spencer, who had gone out to (Ebidos
when he had heard (nat the riflemen had advanced in pursuit of the
enemy, was cnabled to effect their retreat to that village. They have
since remained in possession of it, and the enemy have retired entirely
from the neighbourhood. . In this little affair of the advanced posts,
which was occasioned solely by the eagerness of the troops in pursuit of
the enemy, T am concerned to add, that Licutenant Bunbury, of the 24
battalion of the 95th, was killeds and the Hon. Captain Pakenbam
wounded, but slightly ; and we have lost some men, of whose number I
Rave not received the returns;
Return of killed, wounded, and missing, in the action of umu-.
August 15, 1808.

5th batt. 60th foot—1 rank and file, killed ; 3 rank ad e, mounded s
17 rank and file, missing. 2 batt, 95th foot—4 rank and file, missing,
Offcers killed and wounded—05th foot—Lieut. Bunbury, killed; Capt,
the Hon. H. K. Pakenham, wounded. G. B.Tuckes, D.A.G.

Head-quarters at Villa Verde, Aug. 17, 1808.

" Mr Lorp,—The French General Laborde having continued in his po-
sition at Roleia since my arrival at Caldas on the 15th instant, 1 deter-
mined o attack him in it this morning. Rolcia is situated on an emi-
nence, having a plain in its front, at the ead of a valley, which com=
mences at Caldas, and is closed to the southward by mountains, which
join the hills forming the valley on the left, looking from Caldas. * Tn
the centre of the valley, and about eight miles from Roleia, is the town
‘and old Moorish fort of (Ebidos, from whenc® the enemy's picquets had
‘been driven on the 15th, and from that time he had posts on the hills on
‘otlysides of the valley, as well as in the plain in the front of hisarmy,
‘which was posted on the heights in front of Roleia, its right resting upon
the hills, its left upon the eminence, on which was a windmill, and the
whole covering four or five passes into the mountains in his rear. Ihave
reason to believe that his force consisted of at least six thousand men, of
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which aboit five hundred were cavalry, with five pieces of cantion ; and
there was some reason to believe that General Loison, who was at Rio
Major yesterday, would join General Laborde by his right in the course
of the night. The plan of aitack was formed accordingly, and the army
baving broken up at Caldas thi formed into, th

the right, consisting of twelve hundred Portuguese infantry, and fifty
Portuguese cavalry, destined (o turn the enemy's left, and penetrate into
‘the mountains in his rear ; the left, consisting of Major-General Fergy-
‘son's and Brigadier-Gen. Bowes's brigades of infantry, thzee companics
uf riflemen, a brigade of light artillery, and twenty British and twenty
“Portuguese cavalry, was destined, under the command of Maj. Gen. Fer-
guson, to ascend the hills at (Ebidos, to turn all the enemy’s posts on the
left of the valley, as well as the right of his post at Rol
“was also destined to watch themotions of General Loison,
right, who I had heird had moved from Rio Major tow: Alecontre
last pight. The centre column, consisting of Major- General Hill's, B
godier-General Nightingale's, Brigadier-General Crauiurd's, and_Bri
Endier-General Fane’s brigades, (with the exception of tte riffemen de-
tached with Major-General Ferguson,) and four hundréd Portuguese
I.;hl. infantry, the British and Portuguese aulrv, a brigade of nine-
pounders, and a brigade of six-poinders, were destined to attack Gene-
‘ral Laborde’s position in front. The columns being foried, the troops
moved from (Ebidos about seven o'clock in the morning. Brigadier-
General Fane's riflemen were immediately detached into the hills on the
left of the valley, to keep up the communication between the eenmud
the left columns, aind o protect the march of the former along the valley ;
and the enemy’s posts drivenim. Major-Gy Hill's
“brigade, formed in three cnlnmm of battalions, moved on the right of
the valley, supported by the cavalry, in order to attack the enemy’s
left; and Brigadier-Generals Nightingale and Craufurd moved with the
artillery along the high road, until at_length the former formed in the
“plain immediately in the enemy’ s front, supported by the light infantry
companies, and the 45th regiment of Brigadier-General Craufurd's bri-
gade, while the {wo other regiments of this brigade (the 50th and 91st,)
“and balf of the 9-pounder brigade, were keptasa reserve in the rear.
“Maj 1 Hill and Brigadier-Ge: Nightingale advanced upon
the enemy s position, and, at the same moment, Brigadier-General Fane's
riflemen were in the hills on his right; the Portugucse infantry in @
village upon the left; and Major-General Fergusou's column was de-
scending from the heights into the plain,  From this situation the enemy
Fetired by the passes into the mountains with the utmost regularity and
greatest celerity ; and notwithstanding the npld advance of the British
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infantry, the want of a suflicient hody of cavalry, was the cause of hig
‘suffering butlittle loss in the plain. It was then necessary to make a
disposition to atlack the formidable position which he had taken up,
Brigadier-General Fane's riflemen were alrady in the mountairis.on his
right, and no'time was lost in attacking the different passes, as well to
support the riflemen as to defgat the cnemy completely. The Portuguese
infantry were ordered to move up a passon the right of the whole; the
« light comparties of Maj. Gen, Hill's brigade and the 5(h regiment moved
up a pass next of the¥ight; and the 20th regiment, supported by the 9th,
“under ? third pass;
ments, plnﬁun the left. These passes were all difficult nl'.nccm.lndmm' &
of thiem were well defended by the enemy, particularly that which wag
atiacked by the 20¢h and th regiments. These regiments attacked with
the greatest impetnosity, and reached the enemy before those whose at-
tacks were to be made on their flanks: the defence of the enemy was
desperate, and it was'in this attack principally that we sustajned. the
“loss which we hae to lament, particularly, of that gallant officer the
Licutenant-Colonel hake, who distinguished himself upon
this occasion. The enemy was, however, driven from all the positions
he had taken in the passes of the mountains, and our froops were ad-
vanced in_ the yin‘ on their tops. Fora considerable length of time
the 20th and 0¢h regiments alone were advanced o this point, ‘with Bri-
"gadier-General Fane's nﬂmen at a distance on the left, and they were
“afterwards ,..ppamh by the 5th regiment, and by “the light comyulu
of Ma_]or-&nﬂ Hil's brigade, which had come up onthe right; and
by the other troops ordered to ascend the mountaivs, who came up by
rees. The rnemy here made three most gallant attacks upon the wﬂx
“aud 9th regiments, supporied, as | have above stated, with a view to
cover the retreat of his dl:fcaltd army ; inall of which he was, however,
“repulsed ; but he succeeded in effecting his retreat in good order, owing,
principally, (o my want of cavalry, and sccondly, to, the dificulty of
“bringing up the passes s of the mountains with celerity, a sufficient num~
er of troops; and of cannon, to support those which had first ascended,
“The loss of the enemy has, however, been very great : and he left three
pieces of cannon in our havds. T cannot suflcieatly applaud the con-
duct of the troops throughout this actiop. The enemy’s positions were
'formidable, and he ook them up with his usual ability and eelerity, and
defended them most gallantly. But I must observe, that although we
had such a superiority of numbers employed in the operations of this
day, the troops actually engaged in the heat of the action were, from
unavoidable circumstances, only the 5th, 9th, 20th, the riflemen of tiie
93th and 60th, and the fank companies of Major-General Hill's brigade,
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belng a number by no means equal to that of the encimy ;—their conduct,
therefore, deserves the highest commendation, T cannot avoid to take
this opportunity of expressing my acknowledgments for the &id and
support I received from all the general and other officers of this army.
1 am particilarly indebted to Major-General Spencer for the advice and
assistance I received from him ;—to Major-General Ferguson, for the
‘manner in which he led the light column, and to Major-General I1ill and
Brigadier Generals Nighingale and Fane, for the manner in which they
conducted the different attacks which they ded. 1 derived most material
assistance also from Lieutenant-Colonel Tucker and Li t-Colonel
Bathurst in the offices of Deputy-Adjutant and Deputy-Quarter-Master-
General, and from the officers of.the staff employed under them. T
must also mention that I had every reason to- be satisfied with the artil-
lery under Licutenant-Colonel Robe, Thave the honour to inclose here-
witha return of killed, wounded, and missing.
1 have the honour to be, &c. Awrnur Wercestey.

"Total Return of killed, wounded, and missing, of the army under the
command of Liea. Gen. the Right Hon, Sir Arthur Wellesléy, K. B
on the 17th of August, 1808. 5
1 lieutenant-colonel, 2 captains, 1 ensign, 3 serjeants, 63 rank and file,

1 horse, killed ; 1 lieutenant-colonel, 3 majors, 6 captains, 8 lientenanti,

1 ensign, 1 staff, 20 serjeants, 295 rank and file, 2 horses, wounded ; 1

captain, 3 lieutenants, | serjeant, 1 drummer, 63 rnk and file, missing.

Names of officers killed, wounded, and missing, on the 17th Aug. 1808,

General Staf—captain K. J. Bradford,” 3d regiment of Foot Guards,
deputy assistant adjutant-general, kiltd. Royal Artillery—capt. H.
Geary, Killed. Royal Engineers—capt. H. Elphinstone, badly wounded,
Bth Foot—major Emes, slightly wounded ; licutenant Doyle, wounded.
9th Foot—li lonel Stuart, wounded 5 maj. Mol 1
Sankey, ensign Nichols, wouhded. 20th Foot—licut. col. the hon. G.
A.T. Lake, killed; majors G. Way, and T. Egerson, wounded; cap-
tains P, Hodge, and A, Patison, wounded ; lieutenants R, Birmingham,
St. John W. Liscas, and Robert Stannus, wounded ; captain Geo. Todd,
missing ; licatenants W. Birmingham, Ambrose Newbold, and Thomas
Langton, mising. 6( Foot—captain Joha Currey, stightly wounded,
45th Foot—ensign Dawson, killed ; lieut. Barke, slightly wounded, 82d
Foot—ieut. R. Reid, dangerously wounded. 60th Foot—lieut. Kiety,
Slightly wounded ; ensign Fawes, dightly wounded ; adjutant De Gilso,
slightly wounded. - 95th Foot—captaia Creagh, slightly wounded ; licu-
lenants Hill and Cortman, slightly wounded,
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Total oficers, non-commissioned officers, rank and file, harses, killed,
wounded, and missing, 482.
A G. B. Tucxe, Dep. Adj. Gen.

Head Quarters at Lourinha, August18, 1808.
My Lorn,—Since I wrote to you last night, 1 have heard from Briga~
gadier-General Anstruther, that be is on the coast of Piniche, with the
fleet of victuallers and store-ships, in charge of Captain Bligh, of the
Alfred, witha part of the force detached from England under Brigadier-
General Acland, in consequence of the receipt of orders which I had
left at Modego Bay for General Acland, which he had opened. 1 have
ordered Brigadier-General Anstruther to land immediately, and I have
moved to this place, in onder to protect his landing, and facilitate
his junction. General Loison joined General Laborde in the course of
last night at Torres Vedras; and 1 understand that both began their
march towards Lisbon this morning: Talso bear that General Junot has
arrived this day at Torres Vedras, with a small corps from Lisbon; and
1 conelude that the whole of the French army will be assembled between

Torres Vedras and the capital in the course of a few days,
1 have the honour to be, &c. Anrnor WELLESLEY,

: Vimicra, August 21, 1808,

Sim,—1 have the honour to report to you, that the enemy attacked us
in our position at Vimiera this morning. "The village of Vimiera stands
inavalley, through which runs the river Maceira; at the back, and at
the westward and northward of this yillage, is a mountain,  the western
point of which touches the sea, and the castern is separated by a deep
yavine from the heights, over which passes the road which leads from
Yourinhaand the forthward, 6 Vimiiera. The greatcr part of the in-
fantry, the Ist, 2d, 3d, 4th, 5th and 8th brigades, were posted on this
mountain, with eight pieces of artillery ; Major-General Hill’s brigade
being on the right, Major-General Ferguson's on the left, having one
_battalion on the heights separated from the mountain. On the eastern
and southern side of the town is a hill which is entirely commanded, par-
ticalarly on itsright, by the mountain to the westward of the town, and
commanding all the ground in the neighbourhood to the southward and
eastward, on which Brigadier-General Fane was posted with his rifle-
men and the 50th regiment, and Brigadier-General Anstruther, with his
brigade, with half a brigade of six-pounders, which had been ordered
1o the position in the course of the night. The ground over, which
passes the road from Lourinha commanded the left of this height, and i*
bad not been occupied, excepting by @ picquet, as the camp bad been
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taken up only. for one night; and there was no water in the neighbout,
hood of this height. The cavalry and the reserve of artillery were in
the valley, between the hills on which the infantry stood ;. both flank~
ing and supporting Brigadicr-General Fane's advanced guard. The
cnemy first appeared at eight o'clock in the morning, in large bodies of
cavalry on our left, upon the heights on the road to Lourinka; and it
was soon olnvlon! that the attack would be made upon our advanced

rd, ‘our position ; and Major-General Ferguson's brigade
‘was immediately moved across the ravine to the beights, on the road tg
Lourinha, with three pieces of cannon ; he was followed successively by
Brigadier-General Nightingale with his brigade, and three pieces of
camon; Brigadier-General Acland with his brigade; and Brigadier-
General Bowes with his brigade. These troops were formed (Major-
General Ferguson's brigade in the first line ; Brigadier-General Nightin-
gale’s in the second ; and Brigadier-Generals Bowess and Acland's, in
columns in the rear) on those heights, with their right-upon. the valley
which leads into Vimiera ; and their left upon the other ravine, which-
separates these heights from the range which terminates at the landings
place at Maceira. On these last mentioned heights the Portuguese troops
which had been in the bottom near Vimiera, were posted in the first in-
stance, and they were supported by Brigadier-General Cranfurd’s bris
gade. The troops of the advanced guard on the height to the southward,
and eastward of the town, were deemed suflicient for its defance, and
Major-General Hill was moved to the centre of the mountain on which
the great body of the infantry had been posted, as a support to these
troops, and as a reserve to the whole army. Inaddition to this support
these troops had that ‘of the cavalry in the rear of their right. The
enemy’s attack began in several columns upon the whole of the troops on
this height ; on the left they advanced, notwithstanding the fire of the
riflemen, close to the 50th regiment, and were checked and driven back
only by the bayonets of that corps.’ The second battalios, 43d regiment,
waslikewise closely engaged with them in the road which leads into Vis
miera; a part of that corps having been ordered into the church-yard to
prevent them from penetrating into the town,

On the right of the position they were repulsed by the bayonets of e
91th regiment, which corps was successfuily supported by the 2d bats
talion, 524 regiment, w hich by an advance in column, took the enemy in
flauk. Besides this opposition given to the attack of the enemy on our
advanced guard by their own exertions, they were attacked in flank by
Brigadier-General Acland’s brigade, in its advance to its position on the
ki;!m on the loft, and a cannonade was kept up on the flank of the enes
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'
s columns by the artillery on those heights. A Tength, after a most
desperate contest, the enemy was driven back in confusion from this attack
with the Toss of seven pieces of cannon, many prisoners, and a great num-
ber of officers and soldiers killed and wounded. He was purswed by the
detachment of the 20th light dragoons, but the enemy’s cavalry were 20
e superior in numbers that this detachment has suffered much, and
lonel Taylor was Killed. - Nearly at the same
time| the enemy’s attack commenced upon the heights ot the road te
YLourinha. This attack was supported by a large body of cavalry, and
was made with the usual impetuosity of the French troops. Tt was re-
ceived with steadiness by Major-General Ferguson's brigade, consisting
of the 36th, 40th, and TIst regiments; and these corps charged as soon
s the enemy approached them, who gave way, and they continued (0
advance upon him supported by the 824, one of the corps of Brigadier-
General Nightingale's brigade; which, as the ground extended, after-
wards formed a part of the first line 5. by the 20th regiment, and by
Brigadier-General Bowes's and Acland’s brigades, wiile Brigadier-
(General Craufurd’s brigade, and the Portuguese troops, in two lines, ad-
vanced along the height on the left. Tn the advance of Major-General
Ferguson's brigade, six picces of cannon were taken from the encmy,
with many prisoners, and vast numbers were killed and wounded.
enemy aferwards made an attemptto recover part of his astillery, by
attacking the T1st and 82d regiments, which were halted in a valley, in
which it had been taken. These regiments retired from the low grounds
in the valley, to the heights, svhere they hakted, faced about, fired, and
advanced upon the enemy, who had by that time arrived in the low
ground, and they thus obliged them again to retire with greaf loss. In -
“this action, in which the whole of the French foree in Portugal was em=
ployed, under the command of the Duke D' Abrantes in person, in which
the enemy was certainly supérior in cavalry and artillery, and in which
ot more than halfof the British army was actually engaged, e bas sus-
knmtd a signal defeat, and has lost thirteen pieces of tunmn, twenty~
three ammunition waggons, with powder, shells, stores of all descrip-
tions, and twenty thousand rounds of musket ammunition,  One general
afficer (Bewiere) has been wounded, and taken prisoner, and a great
many officers and soldiers have been killed, wounded, and taken. The
valour and discipline of his majesty’s troops have been conspicuous upon
this occasion, as yon, who witnessed the greatest part of the action, must
have observed § but it is a justice (o the following corps, todraw your
Rotice to them. in a particular manncr, viz.—the royal artillery, com-
manded by Licutenant-Colonel Robe; the 20th dragoons, which had
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‘been commanded by Lieutenant-Colonel Taylor ; the 50th regiment, com,
‘manded by Colonel Walker the 2d battalion, 95th foot, commanded by
Major Travers; the 5th battalion, 60th regiment, commanded by Major
Davy; the 2 battalion, 434, commanded by. Major Hull; the,2d bats
talion, 52d, commahded by Lieutenant-Colonel Ross; the 97th regiment,
commanded by Licutenant-Colonel Lyon ; the 36th regiment, commanded
by Colonel Burne; the 40th, commanded by Colonel Kemmis ; the 7lst,
commanded by Lieutenant-Colonel Packs and the 82d regiment, com-
manded by Major Eyre. ~ Inmentioning Colonel Burne, and the 36th res
giment, to you upon this occasion, T cannot avoid to add, that the regus
larand orderly conduct of this corps throughout this service, and their
pwmuy Indﬂhciphm in action, bave been conspieuous, | I must take

i igations to the general and
Mollun of gn army. 1 was mr.h lndebied to Major-General Spens
ger's judgment and experience, in the decision which I forhed with re-
spect to the namber of troops allotted to each point of defence ; and for
his advice any assistance. throughout the action. In the position taken
up by Major-General Ferguson's brigade, and in its advance upon the
enemy, that officer shewed equal bravery and judginent ; and much praise

isd i 1 Fane, and Brigadier-General Anstruther, for
their gallant défence of their position in front of Vimiera, and to Brigas
for the which he sapported the at-

fack upon the enemy, made by Major-General Ferguson. Lieutenant~
Colonel G. Tucker, and Lieutenant-Colonel Bathurst, and the officers in
she departments of the Adjutant and Quarter - Master-General, and
Licutenant-Colonel Torrens, and the officers of my personal stafl, ren-
deréd me the greatest assistance throughout the action. I have the
honour to inclose herewith a return of the killed, wounded, and missing,
. <L hiaye the honour to be, &c. &c.
(Sigued) Awraur Weieesey,

N. B. Since writing the above, T have been informed that a French
‘general oflicer, supposed to be geheral Thichault; the chief of the staff,
as been found dead upon the field of battle. - 1 ALW.

Total Return of killed, wounded, and missiog, of the army under the
command of Licut. Gen. the, Rn_ghlilnn. Sir A, Wellesley, K.B. on the
215t of August, 1808
1 lieutenant-colonel, 1 captain, 2 1.=uumu. 3 serjeants, 198 rank

and file, 30 horses, killed; 8 majors, 10 captains, 19 licutenants, 3 en-

signs, 2 stafl, 27 serjeants, 4 drummers, 466 rank and file, 12 horses,
wounded; 1 captain, 1 Heutenant, 1 serjeant, € drummers, 46 rank
and tile, 1 borse, missing.
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Names of officers killed, wounded, and
! 1808.

General Staff—captain Hardinge, of the 5Tth Foot, deputy assistant
quarter-master-general, wounded. Royal Engineers—first lieutenant
Wells, missing.  20th Light Dragoons—licutenant-colonel Taylor, kil-
ted; captain Eustace, missing. 20th Foot—lientenant Brooke, killed
ticutenant Hogg, wounded. 29th Foot—brigadier-major A. Creagh,
wounded.  36th Foot—captain Herbert, slightly wounded ; licutenants
#art, Lought, and Edwards, slightly wounded ; ensign Bosell, slightly
‘wounded ; licutenant and adjutant Poveab, severely wounded. 40th
Foot—captain Smith, slightly wounded ; lieutenant Frankley, slightly
wounded. 434 Foot—major Hearne, wounded; captains Ferguson,
Brock, and Haverfield, wounded ; lieut. Madden, wounded ; ensign Wil-
son, wounded. 50th Foot—captain A. G. Cooke, killed ; major Charles
ill, wounded ; lieutenants John Kent, John Wilson, and Robert Way,
‘wounded. 524 Foot—captain Ewart, wounded ; Ticut. Bell, wounded.
60th Foot—Tlicutenant Charles Kirk, wounded ; Lewis Neith, wounded.
Tlst—captain A. Jones, slightly wounded ; major Mackenzie, slightly
‘wounded ; lieut. J.D. Pratt, severely wounded ; lieutenants W. Hartley,
R. Dudgeon, and A. §. M‘Intyre, slightly wounded; ensign W. Camp-
bell, slightly wounded; acting adjutant R. R. M¢Alpive,' severely
wounded. - 824—licutenant R. Dunkin, kilied. ~95th—lieut. Pratt,
‘wounded s ensignW. Cox, wounded. 97th—major J. Wilson, wounded 5
tieut. E. Kettlewell, wounded.

Total officers, non-commissioned ofiicers and drummers, rank -and file,
and borses, killed, wounded, and whsing, 765.

G. B. Tocken, Dep. Adj. Gen.
Return of ordnance and ammunition taken in the action of the 21t inst.

1 six-pounder; ‘4 four-pounders; 2 three-pounders; 6 five-and-half
inch howitzers ; 2 ition waggons ; 21 Portug iti 3
40 horses; 4 males.

The above is only the number already received in the park ; but, from
several accounts, there are eight more faken from the encmy.  The am-
munition waggons and cars contain a portion of powder, shells, and stores
of all dncxlplmlu, and about twenty thousand rounds of musket ammu-
Wi, Rose, Lt. Col. Commanding R. Artillery.

issing, on the 21st of August,
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SIR ARTHUR WELLESLEY’S
NARRATIVE.

GenNerAL Sir Davip Duxpas,
My Lorbs, AND GENTLEMEN,

Having received the direcions of the
Judge Advocate General to attend you here this day,
with as much detailed information, in writing, as I may
think proper to offer, of my proceedings, from the time:
1 failed with the troops from Ireland, to the time I
gave up the command to Lieutenant General Sir Harry
Burrard, I have now the honour to fubmit to the Court
of Inquiry copies of my difpatches to the Secretary of
State, detailing my proceedings.

As thefe proceedings are fully detailed in the dif- .
patches, which likewife contain an account of my
motives for my alions at the moment I carried them
into execution, I fhould be fatisfied if the Court were
to form an opinion upon a confideration of their con=
tents; but as the Court have exprefled a defire, at the

3
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fame time, to have a narrative of my proceedings, I
have drawn one out principally from the difpatches.

1 failed from Cork in the Donegal on the 12th of
July; 1 went on board the Crocodile on the 13th, and
failed to Corunna, where I arrived on the 20th of July.
I there found that the French had, on the 14th, de-
feated the army of Caftile and Gallicia under Generals
Cuefta and Blake; but having founded the Junta of
Gallicia refpe@ing their with to have the affiftance of
the army under my command, in the exifting orifis of
their affairs, they declared explicitly that they did not
want the affiftance of t¥aops, but eventually arms md

and money diately

A fum of 200,000l. for their ufe had arrived on the
20th, and their requifition for arms and iti
was fent home immediately. The Junta of Gallicia,
at the fame time, exprefled the greatefl anxicty that the
troops under my command fhould be employed in driv-
ing the French out of Portugal, as they were perfuaded
that the Spaniards of the north and the fouth of the
peninfula would never have any decided fuccefs inde~
pendently of cach other ; and could never make any
great fimultancous effort to remove the French from
Spain, till they fhould be driven from Portugal, and
the Britifh troops in that kingdom fhould conne@ the
operations of the northern and the fouthern Spanith
armies. The Junta of Gallicia at the fame time
ftrongly recommended to me to land in the north of
Portugal, in order that I might bring forward and avail
myfelf of the Portuguefe troops which the Government
of Oporto were colle@ing in the neighbeurhood of that,

1 have to obferve to the Court, that they will not fee,
;n my difpatches to the Secretary of State from Corunna,
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fhe detail of the withes and fentiments of the Junta on
my plan of operations, becaufe they did not come re-
gularly within the fcope of a military difpatch; but the
fubje is mentioned in my difpatch to General Spencer
of the 26th of July.

I failed from Corunna on the 22d, and joined the
fleet off Cape Finifterre next day, and quitted it again
at night ; and went to Oporto, in order to hold a con-
ference with the Bifhop and the General Officers in the
command of the Portuguefe troops. On my arrival at
Oporto on the 24th, I received a letter from the Admiral
Sir Charles Cotton, in which he recommended to me
to leave the troops cither at Operto, or at the mouth of
the Mondego river, and to proceed to Lifbon in a fri-
gate, to communicate with him before 1 fhould deter-
mine upon the plan of operations and the landing-
place. f

The refult of the conference which I had on the night
of the 24th with the Bifhop and the General Officers of
the Portuguefe army, wasan agreement, that about 5600
Portuguefe troops fhould be fent forward to co-operate
with me againft the enemy ; that the remainder of the
Portuguefe troops, amounting to about 1500, and a
Spanifh corps of about r500 men, then on its march
from Gallicia, and another fmall Spanifh corps of about
300 men, and all the Portuguefe armed peafantry, fhould
remain in the neighbourhood of Operto, and in'the pro-
vince of Tralos Montes; a part to be employed in the
blockade of Almeida, and a part in the defence of the
province of Tralos Montes, which province was fup-
pofed to be threatened by an attack from the French
corps under Marfhal Beffieres, fince the defeat of the
Spanifh armies under Blake and Cuefta at Rio' Seco, on
the 14th of July.

B2
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The Bithop of Oporto likewife promifed to, fupply
the army-under my command with mules and: other
means of ‘carriage, and with (aughter cattle.

I failed from Oporto on the morning of the 25th, nnd
joined the flcet, and fertled with Captain Malcolm that
it thould go to Mondego Fay ; and T left it again that
night, and went to the mouth of theT'agus to confer with
the Admial. I joined him on thesgvening of the 26th,
and Ithere reccived letters from General Spencer, at Port
+ 8t Mary’s, in which he informed me, that he had landed
his corpsin Andalufia, at the requeft of the Junta of Se-
ville, and he did not think it pruper to embark it again
till he fhould receive fusther orders from me.; and he ap-
peared to.think that my prefence ia Andalufia, and the
afliftance of the troopsunder my command, were necef-
fary to enable General Callanos to de’cut Ceac:al Du
Pont,

As T wasof opinion that the moft eﬂ'cnml objed, for
the Spaniaids, as well as for us, was to drive the French
out of, Portugal, and that neither his corps nor mine
werse fufficiently ffrong when fvparate to be of much fer-
vice any where, and that when joined they might effe&

«the objeét which had been deemed of moft importance
‘in England and in Gallicia, I.immediately difpatched or-
ders 0 General Spencer to embark his troops; unlefs he .
fhould. be adlually engiged in an operation which. he

".could not relinguifh without. lofs to the Spaniards, and
to join me off the coaft of Portugal:

The refult of the information which I received from
General Spencer, of the firength of the French army in
Portugal, was, that they confifted of more than 20,000
men, - The accounts of their numbers which I had re-
ceived from the Admiral, and had reccived from the Por-
tugucle, did not make their force fo large; but upon
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the whole I wasinduced to believe that they had not lefs
than from 16 to 18,000 men. - Of this number they had
from 600 to 800 in the fort of Almeida, 600 or 800 in
Elvas, 800 in Peniche, 16 or 1800 -in Setuval, and the
‘remainder were confidéred about 14,000 men, difpofable
for the defence of Lifbon and the forts on the Tagus. The
whole of this difpofable force was at this time in the
neighbourhood of Lifbon, excepting about 2400 men at
Alcobaga, under General Thomiere,

I confidered, with.the Admiral, the propricty of car~
1ying into execution any of the propofed plans of at-
tack upon the Tagus, or upon the coaft in the neigh~
bourhood of the Rock of Lifbon 3 and it appeared to ys
both, that all the attacks upon. the river which had been
propofed to Government, were impradicable ; that the
attack vpon Cafcacs Bay was likewife (o ; that a land-
ingiin:any.of the fmall bays in the neighbourhood of the
Rock was a matter of confiderable difficulty at any time ;
and that there was a rifk, that if a part of the army, or
even the whole army, were landed, the flate of the furf
which, prevails upon the whole coalt of Portugal, might
prevent the difenibarkation of the rear in the one cafe,
and of the ftores and proyifions, which were neceffary,
in the other. At all events, the difembarkation would
be made in the neighbourhood of the whole difpofabl
force f the French army, and the Brivith troops would
be.expofed to their attack on their landing, probably in
acrppled, and certainly not in a very cfficient fate.

By making our difembarkation in one of the bays near
the Rock of Lifbon, it was certain that we fhould not
-have. the advantage which, at that time, we expedted to
derive from the co-operation of the Portugueic troops,

Tt appearcd to.us that he fort of Peniche, which was

-garsifoned by the enemy, would prevent the difembarka-




6 SIR ARTHUR WELLESLEY'S NARRATIVE.

tion under the fhelter of that peninfula ; and therefore
it appeared to the Admiral and to me, that it would be
moft advifable to difembark the troops in the Mondego
Tver.

1 quitted the Admiral off the Tagus on the 2§th;, and
joined the fleet of tranfports off the Mondego, on the
30th.

¥ there received information from Government, dated
the 15th July, that they intended to reinforce the army
under my command with 5000 men under the com-
mand of Brigadier General Ackland, in the firft in-
ftance, and eventually, with the corps confifting of
10,000 men, which hadbeen under the command of Sir
John Moore in Sweden; and that Sir Hew Dalrymple
was appointed to command the army. I was likewife
dire@ed to carry into execution the inftra&ions which
T had received, if 1 conceived that my force was fuffi-
ciently ftrong.

Befides thefe difpatches from Government, I received
information, on my arrival at the Mondego, of the defeat
of the French corps under Du Pont by the Spanith Ge-
neral Caftanos on the 3oth July, and I was cenvinced
that General Spencer, if he did not embark imme-
diately upon receiving intelligence of that event, would
do fo as foon as he fhould receive my orders of the 26th
July. I therefore confidered his arrival as certain ;
and I had reafon to expe& the arrivalof General Ack-
land’s corps every moment, as I had becn informed that
it was to fail from Harwich and the Downs on the 19th
July. N

I alfo received accounts, at the fame time, that Ge-
neral Loifon had been detached from Lifbon acrofs the
“Tagus into Alentejo on the 27th July, in order to fub-
due the infurre@ion in that province, and open the com-
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munication with Elvas. - The infurgents had lately been
joined by about 1oce men from the Spanith army of
Eftremadura, and the infurre@ion had made confiderable
progrefs, and was become formidable in Alentejo.

fidered that I might cof the dif-
embarkation of the troops, without rifk of their being
attacked by fuperior numbers, before one or both the
reinforcements fhould arrive ; and I was induced to
difembark immediately, not only becaufe the troops
were likely to be better equipped, and more able to
march in proportion as they fhould have been longer on
fhore ; but becaufe I had reafon to believe that the
Portuguefe had been much difcouraged by feeing the
troops fo long in the fhips after the fleet had arrived in
Mondego Bay; and I was certain they would fufpeé
eur inclination, or our ability to contend with the
French, if they had not been difembarked as foon as
1 returned from the Tagus; I therefore determined to
Aifembark as foon as the weather, and the ftate of the
furf, would permit us, and we commenced the difem=
barkation on the 1t of Auguft.

The difficulties of landing, oxcafioned by the furf,
were {0 great, that the whole of the corps were not dif-
embarked till the sth, en which day General Spencer
arrived, and his corps on the 6th ; he had embarked at
Port St. Mary’s on the 21ft July, when he had heard
of the defeat of Du Pont by Caftanos, and had not re-
ceived the difpatches addreffed to him by me on the 26th
July. General Spencer difembarked on the 7th and
8th, on which night the whole army was in readinefs
to march forward.

From the 1ft of Augult to that day, the time had
been ufefully fpent in procuring the means for moving
with the army, the neceffary ftores, provifions, and
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baggage, and in arranging thofe' means in the moft ad-
vantageous manner to the different departments. The
cavalry and antillery received a large remount of horfes ; *
means ‘were procured for moving, with the army, a fuf-
ficient fupply of ammunition and mi'itary ftores, and a
reafonable fupply of hofpital ftores:  But I'determined
te march towards' Lifbon by that road which paffes
nearelt to the fea-coaft, in order that T might communi-,
cate with Captain Bligh of the Alfred, who attended the
movements of the army with a fleet of vi@uallers and
flore-thips.  The communication with this fleet, how=
ever, it was obvious would be very precarious, as well
on account of the ftate of the'furf on the coaft, in the
different points of rendezvous which had been fettled,
as becaufe it might happen that it would be more advan-
tageous to the army to take another Jine 6f march paffing
further inland. 2
©'T therefore miade artangements for carrying with the
army fuch a fupply of the articles of firft neceflity, as'
fhould render it independent of the fleet, tillit fhould
reach the Tagus, if circumftances fhould pre‘venl the
communication with the fleet, or fhould render it ad-
vantageous to relinquith it.
I the fome “period of time T alfo armed the Portu~
guefe troops, and afcertained, as far as lay in my power,
the degree of their difcipline and efficiency, and recom-
mended and fuperintended their organization, * I offered
fuch a fum of money, as the funds of the army could
afford, to defsay any expence which it might be deemed
necéffary to inctr in their equipment for the field, which
was declined by the Portuguefe General Officérs, and T
et thiofe gentlemen ‘at' Montemore: Valho on the 7th,
and arranged with them ‘the plan of our operations and *
march, which ‘was delayed for ‘the main body of the
+ 4
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army till the roth, at their defire, for the convemcnce of
the Portuguefe troops.

On the 8th, T wrote a letter to Sir Harry Burrard,
which I left with Captain Malcolm of the Donegal, to
be delivered to him upon his arrival at the Mondego,
detailing all the circumftances of our fituation, and re-

g for his confideration a plan of op
for the corps under the command of Sir John Moore.
The Court will find the copy of this letter enclofed in
my difpatch to Lord Caftlereagh of the 8th of Auguft.

The advanced guard marched on the gth, fupported
by the brigades under General Hill and General Fergu-
fon, as I had heard that General La Borde had colle@ed
his own corps, and General Thomiere’s; confifting of
from 5 to 6000 men, in the neughbonrhood of Leym,
‘which place he th d, as it i a
formed for the ufe of the Portuguefe army. On the
1oth the main body followed, and the advanced guard
arrived at Leyria on the 1oth, and the ‘main body on the
11th,

I received a letter from Mr. Stwart and Colonel
Doyle, at Corunna, on the 1oth, detailing the 2R
cient ftate of the Gallician army under General Blake,
that that General had feparated his troops, which con-~
filted of “infantry, from the cavalry under General
Cuefta, and that neither were in a condition to a& offen-
fively againft Beflieres, or even to follow that General,
if he fhould march into Portugal, or to attack him if he
fhould make any confiderable detachment to that quarter,
At the fame time I received intelligence of the retreat
of Jofeph Bonaparte from Madrid on the 2gth July;
and T concluded that Beffieres, inftead of moving out,
or detaching towards Portugal, would cover the retreag
of Jofeph Bonaparte towards the French frontier, Whe-

<
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ther hedid fo or not, it was obvious to me that I thould
have time for my operations againft Junot, before Bef-
fieres cculd arrive in Portugal to interrupt them ; and
it was probable that General Ackland’s corps or Sir
John Moore’s would arrive and land in Portugal before
Beffieres could come from the north of Spain,

Adverting tk to.the d ftate of the feafon, -
the n:ceﬂ'uy of communicating with the . fea-coaft, and
the certainty that that communication would be nearly
impra@icable after the month of Auguft; and to the fill
difperfed fate of the French forces in Portugal, I con-
fidered it to be important to. endeayour to perform thofe
operations to which the army was equal, and for whnch
it was fully equipped, without lofs of time.

I communicated, however, the intelligence. I had re-
eived from Mr, Stuart, and my opinion upon it, to Sir
Harry Burrard, in a letter. which I addreffed to him on
the 1oth of Augult ; a copy of which, and of a private
Jetter to Sir Harry Burrard, the Court will find in
my difpatch to the Secretary of State of the 18th of Au.
iguft.

The Portuguefe army, cenfilting of about 6000 men,
including 500 cavalry, arrived at Leyria on the 12th,
where the whole force was then affembled.

The French General Loifon, who I have informed
the Court, had been detached acrofs the Tagus into
‘Alentejo on the 26th or 27th of July, with between §
and 6000 men, had withdrawn the greateft part of the
garrifon of St. Ubes, confifting of 1600 men, by which
he had been joined, and he had immediately marched
towards Evera, where he defeated and difperfed a Spa-
nith detachment, confifting of 1000 men, and. the
force of the infurre@ion of Alentejo, colle@ed in that
town ;. he then marched to Elyas, reviQualled that
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place, fupprefled the infurre&ion, and re-cftablifhed the
French authority in Alentejo, aud ‘made arrangements
for the purchafe and colleion of the grain of that
province. 3

He croffed the Tagus again at Abrantes, and march-
ing down that river, he arrived at Thomar, about 16
miles to the S. E. from Leyria, on the evening of
the 11th, on which. day the Britith army arrived at
Leyria. ‘

Thecorps under La Borde was, at the fame time, at
Alcobaga, about 16 miles from Leyria to the S. W,z
nd the obje@ of the French officers had evidently been
to join ‘at Leyria before the Britith troops could arrive
there.

This town is on the high road from Lifbon to the
north of Portugal, to the caftward of which, and nearly
parallel to the road, there is a chain of high mountains
which runs from Leyrianearly to the Tagus; over
which chain there is'no good paflage for carriages. In
confequence of the early arrival, therefore, of the Britifh
troops at Leyria, General Loifon was obliged to return
to the fouthward before he could effe@ his junéion
with General La Borde, who was thus expofed to be
attacked when alone; and was attacked on the 17th of
Auguft. 'The Court will find in my difpatch to the Se-
cretary of State of the 16th of Auguft, from Caldas, an
outline of the operations of Loifon’s corps, of which
what I have here Rtated is a more detailed account.
All the g for the march having been made
and communicated to the Portuguefe officers, the army
marched on' the 13th, in two columns, to Calveria, and
on the 14th, in two columns, to.Alcobaga, from whence
General La Borde had retreated in thé courfe of the pre-
seding night.  The Portuguefe troops had not marched

€2




12 SIR ARTHUR WELLESLEY'S NARRATIVE.

from Leyria, as had been arranged, and as I had ex-
pedied, under the pretence that they had no provifions 3
and I received, on the 13th,-in the evening, a letter
from Colonel Trant, who was employed by me to com=~
-municate with the Portuguefe General, in which he in-
formed me of the General’s intention to halt at Leyria,
unlefs I thould confent to fupply the Portuguefe troops
-with provifions from the Britith commiffariat, on the
march to Lifbon. He alfo explained a plan of opera=
tions which General Freire propofed to carry. into exe-
cution, by which he would have been left without any
communication with the Britith army, expofed to be
attacked by the French army if they fhould choofe ta
abandon the defence of Lifbon and the Tagus, and pro=
ceed to the northward and eaftward ; or ;even if they
fhould be compelled to retire after an altion with the
Britifh troops.

In my reply to this* communication, I pointed out
the impoflibility of my complying with the demand
for provifions, and the danger which would refult from
the adoption of the plan of operations propofed for the
“Portuguefe corps.

I urged the Portuguefe General in. the moft earneft
terms to co-operate with me in the deliverance: of his
eountry from the French, if he had any regard to his
ewn honour, to the honour of his country, or of his
Prince; and I pointed out to him the refources of which
he could avail himfelf to feed the army. I then pro-
pofed to him, that if he fhould not march with his
whole corps, he fhould fend to join me 1000 regular
infantry, all his light troops and his cavalry, which
troops I engaged to feed, as the utmoft I could under-~
take to perform in that way.

Thefe troops, in. number ooo regular infantry, 400
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light. troops, and 250 cavalry; joined me at Alcobaga
on the evening of the 14th with: Colonel Trant, and
remained with me during the remainder of the opera+
tions.

The main body of the Portuguefe corps, inftead -of
carrying into execution, the plan of operations which L
had originally propofed, or that which General Freire
had fubflituted, adopted the meafure of fafety which I
had recommended in the event of his determination not
to join me, and remained at Leyria, and afterwards at
Caldas and Obidos, till the 22d of Auguft.

On the arrival of the army at Alcobaga, I immedi-
ately opened a communication with Captain Bligh of
the Alfred, who had been for two days waiting withithe
fleet of victuallers and ftore-thips off Nazareth, and a
fupply of bread and oats was immediately landed ; and
T appointed Peniche, which place I intended to recon-
noitre, as our next point of communication. ¢
- The army marched on the 15th in two columns to
Caldas, where it halted the 16th, to allow the Com-
miffariat to come up.and receive the fupplies which
had been landed at Nazarcth, On the. 15th, in the
evening, there was a {kirmifh between the troops of the
advanced guard of La Borde’s corps and our riflemen,
in which the latter fuftained fome lofs. But we kept
pofleffion of the poft at Obidos, which commands the
valley of Caldas.

The details of this affair are publifhed in the Gazette,
as are thofe of the a&ion of the 17th. .

Throughout that day we had reafon to believe that
General Loifon, who had moved from Rio Major on
the evening of the 16th, would be found on La Borde's
right, and the difpofition for the attack was made ac-
cordingly. During the a&ion a French officer, who
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4vas dying of his wounds, informed me, that they had
expedted Loifon to join them that day at one e'clock
by their right, which was the reafon for which they
ftood our attack, that their numbers were 6ooo, and
that their lofs had been fevere. Intelligence to the
fame purport was received from other prifoners ; and as
a fmall patrole of French infantry appeared at no great
diftance from ‘the left of our pofition on the r7th at dufk,
and T heard that Loifon’s corps was at that moment
arriving at Bombarral, which was about five miles from
the field of battle, I conclude that the jun&ion had
been intended, and was prevented only by our early
attack. f ’

At all events, great caution was neccflary in' all the
movements of that day; and indeed the nature of the
ground over which the troops were obliged to move,
rendered a very rapid attack impoffible.

The two French corps joined on that night, and re-
tired beyond Torres Vedras, ‘which was ten miles from
the ficld of battle towards Cabeca de Montachique.
My intention was to march to Torres Vedras on the
morning of the 18th, and the troops were under arms,
and the orders for the march had been iffued, when I
received from General Anftruther an account of his ar-
rival on the coaft, and of his jun&ion with Captain
Bligh. My original intention had been  to employ the

. corps under General Ackland and General Anftruther,
in the fiege of Peniche, if I fhould find it neceffary
to undertake it ; or if I fhould not, to fend them down
the coaft to effe@ a landing in fome of the bays in the
neighbourhood of the Rock of Lifbon, in the rear of
the eucmy, while I fhould prefs upan their front. But
the difapp which I experienced in the hoped-for
co-operation of the Portuguefe troops, which were

3
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with me in the adtion of the 17th, and above all the
determined and gallant refiftance of the enemy in that
adtion, induced me to be of opinion, that I ought to
land General Anftruther’s brigade, and General Ack-
land’s when it fhould arrive, and to join' hofe troops to
the army, & >

I therefore marched on the 18th to Lourinha, from
whence I communicated again with General Anftru-
ther, and on the 1gth to Vimeira ;. which appeared,
on the whole, to be the pofition beft calculated to fecure
the jundion of General Anftruther, at the fame time
that it was a march in advance on our route. © On ac-
count of the calms, the fleet, which was anchored off

*the Berlings, could not ftand in till late on the 1gth;
and General Anftruther did not land till that evening,
and he formed a jun@ion with two brigades, detached
from our left, on the morning of the 20th, and took.
his pofition in the advanced guard.

Between the 18th and 20th, the French corps had
affembled at and about Torres Vedras; the troops laft
arrived under’ General Junét, forming the jadvanced
guard, in a ftrong pofition in front of the town ; and
the divifions of La Borde and Loifon, the main body,
in another {trong pofition behind it. "

Their cavalry was very a&ive throughout the days of
the 19th and 2oth; they covered the whole country ;
patrolled frequently up to eur pofition ; and on the 20th,
one patrole was pufhed into the rear of our right, as
far as the landing-place at Maceira.

Under thefe circumftances we could gain no detailed
information of the enemy’s pofition, excepting that it
was very ftrong, and occupied by their whole force.

My intention was to march on the morning of the
2t and orders were iffied accordingly : I fhould bave
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puthed the advanced guard as far as the heights of
Maffra, and fhould have halted the main body about four
or five miles from that place. By this movement, the
enemy’s pofition’ at Torres Vedras would have been
turned, and I fhould have brought the army into a
country of which I had an excellent map, and topo-
graphical accounts, which had been drawn up for the
ufe of the late Sir Charles Stewart; and the battle,
which it was evident would be fought in a few days,
‘would have had for its field a country of ‘which we had
a knowledge, not very diftant from Lifbon, into which
town, if we had been fuccefsful, we might have entered
‘with the retreating enemy.

1 wasinformed in the middle of the day of the 20th,
that General Ackland’s brigade was in the offing, and
1 made g for their di k as foon
as they thould-arrive ; and in the evening of this day
Sir Harry Burrard arrived in Maceira roads in the
!Brazen 3 he immediately affumed the d of the
army. % ‘
The Court will obferve that the laft of my difpatches
'to the Secretary of State is dated on the 18th, and the
account of my proceedings on the 1gth and 2oth, the
two laft days of my command, is made from memory,
affited by reference to private 'letters written at the
“fime; and if the Court fhould with it, it can be fub~
«ftantiated by evidence.

THE END.

'S. Gosxeiu, Printer, Livle Queen Strect,
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF ENQUIRY
TO THE KING.

May 1T pLEAsE Your Majesty,

‘WE the under-written General Officers of the army,
in obedience to Your Majefty’s warrant, which bears
date the 1ft day of November 1808, commanding us
ftri@tly to enquire into the conditions of a Sufpenfion of
Arms, concluded on the 22d Augult 1808, between
Your Majefty’s army in Portugal, and the French force
in that country ; and alfo into a definitive Convention,
concluded with the French General commanding on the
31ft Auguft following ; alfo into all the caufes and cir-
cumftances (whether arifing from the previous opera-
tions of the Britith army, or otherwife, which led to -
them) ; and into the condu&, behaviour, and proceed-
ings of Licutenant-General Sir Hew Dalrymple, and
fuch other Commander or Commanders of Your Majel-
ty’s forces in Portugal; and of any other perfon. or
perfons, as far as the fame were conne&ted with the faid
Armiftice, Sufpenfion of Arms, and Convention; and
to report to Your Majefty a flate thereof, as it fhall
appear, together with our opinion thereon, and alfo
our opinion, whether any, and what further proceedings
fhould be had thereupon : .

We have, at feveral meetings, perufed and confi-
dered Your Majefty’s orders and inftruions, as tranf-
mitted to us by the Right Hon. Lord Caftlereagh, Your
Majefty’s Principal Secretary of State, together with
fundry letters, and other papers, therewith tranfmitted :
And have heard and examined Licutenant-General Sir
Hew Dalrymple, Sir Harry Burrard, and Sir Arthur
Wellefley, and other principal Officers employed on
the faid expedition, with fuch witneffes as any of them
defired ; and alfo fuch other perfons as feemed to us
moft likely to give any material information : And in
order that”Your Majelty may be fully fled of every
circumftance which "has appeared in the courfe of this
inquiry,

c
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‘We beg leave to lay before Your Majefty the whole

- of our examinations and proceedings to this our Report

annexed. And upon the moft diligent and careful re-

view of the whole matter, we do, in further obedience

to Your Royal Command, moft humbly report to Your
Majefty,

That it appears, that early in the month of May
1808, a very confiderable force, deftined for foreign
fervice, was affembled near Cork, the command of
which, it is imagined, was intended for Sir Arthur
Wellefley ; that in the month of May, univerfal and
unexpeéted refiffance to French tyraniy had taken
place in Spain; that application was made for the af-
fiftance of Britain ; and that Government, with the uni-
verfal concurrence of the country, determined on givin,
Spain and Portugal, then alfo in commotion, the mof
dg'c&ual aid. 2

It appears, that in confequence of fuch determina-
tion, Major-General Spencer, before the furrender of
the French fleet at Cadiz, was off that port with about
5000 men, fent by Sir Hew Dalrymple from Gibral-
tar. His affitance not having been called for there, he
proceeded -to the mouth of the Tagus, with a view of
aiding Sir Charles Cotton’s ficet in forcing a paffage, it
having been reprefented that there were not in the
_forts, and about. Lifbon, more than four thoufand
men. But General Spencer being then off the Tagus
(June 24), reports, from the beft authority he could
have, that the enemy had 11,000 men in and about
Lifbon, and 9500 at St. Ubes, the eaft of Portugal,
and elfewhere.” In this fitvation the intended attack
could not take place, and General Spencer returned to
€adiz and Gibraltar.

It appears, that on the 14th June, application was
made to the Admiralty to provide a convoy-to fail with
the troops then under orders from Cork, on the arrival
of Lieutenant-General Sir Arthur Wellefley, appointed
to the command.

On the 21ft June, Lord Caltlereagh acquaiats Sir
Arthur Wellefley, that accounts from Cadiz are bad,
and General Spencer was returning to Gibraltar, and
that the Cabinet poftpone their inftructions to him till
more is known.

4
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On the 28th_June, Lord Caftlereagh acquaints Ge-
neral Spencer, then fuppofed at Gibraltar, that Sir Ar-
thur Wellefley, with nine thoufand men, is ordered to-
proceed from Cork, and to aét with his (Spencer’s)
corps,in fupport of the Spanifh nation. He is, there-
fore, with ﬂis corps, to go off to Cadiz to wait for
him; in the mean time, availing himfelf ofany circum-
ftance that offers of ading to advantage, even within
the Straits.

It appears that, on the r2th July, Lieutenant-General
Sir Arthur Wellefley failed from Cork with gooo men
(under inftructions of the goth June), generally to aid
the Spanifh natien, and the principal obje& to attack
the French in the Tagus ; but authorized, as he un-
derftood, to purfue any other obje,. if more likely to
conduce to the benefit of the two nations. And (of the
15th July) to endeavour, if poffible, not only to expel
the enemy from Lifbon, but to cut off their retreat to-
wards Spain. ~ He arrived at Corunna the 20th, com-
municated with the Gallician Junta, who wifhed the
troops to be employed in expelling the French from
Portugal, and recommended him to land in that country
this was on the 26th communicated to General Spencer).

iled from Corunna the 22d, went to Oporto (leaving
the fleet off Cape Finifterre) ; arrived the 24th, defired
by Sir Charles Cotton te leave the troops at Oporto or
Mondego Bay, and come to the Tagus to communicate.
Had a conference with the Generals and Bifhop, at
Oporto, about the difpofal of their force. The Bifhop
promifed mules and other means of carriage, and alfo a,
fufficiency of flaughter cattle.

It appears that Sir Arthur Wellefley failed from
Oporto the 25th July, ordered the tranfports to go to
Mondego, proceeded and joined the Admiral the
Tagus the 26th.  Letters were received from General
Spencer at Cadiz, towhich he had retu roed,and where the
Spaniards preffed him to remain, and he expe&ted erders
from Sir Arthur Wellefley. Agreed with Sir Charles
Cotton, that landing in the mouth of the Tagus was
impraicable, and unadvifable, as there was great rifk
from the ftate of the furf, from the defences and adverfe
nature of the coaft, and from the neighbourhood of the
€nemy’s whole difpofable force, to whofe attack we

€2
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fhould be expofed in landing, probably in a crippled
ftate, certainly not in a very efficiént one,—Peniche
fortrefs was in poffeflion of the enemy. Mondego Bay
was therefore agreed on as moft eligible to land at.
Thinking it moft important to drive the French from
Portugal, he ordered General Spencer to embark (with
h:;néoau men), and join off that coaft. By his in-
forthation of the 24th June, the French had more than
20,000 men in Portugal. The Admiral’s account made
them lefs.  Sir Arthur Wellefley thought they had not
1éfs than from 16 to 18,000.

It appears, that Sir Arthur Wellefley quitted the Ad-
miral off the Tagus on the 27th, and joined the tranf-
ports off Mondego on the 3oth. He there received in-
formation from Government (dated 1s5th July), that
a reinforcement of Brigadier-General Acland and five
thoufand men was intended for him, and eventually
ten thoufand more men, under Lieutenant-General Sir
John Moere ; that Sir Hew Dalfymple was to com-
mand the army ; that Sir Arthur Wellefley was alfo
to proceed on the inftruions he had received, viz. the
attack of Lifbon, if his force was fufficient. Dupont
having furrendered, General Spencer’s arrival was now
dvnﬁfered as certain, as alfo that of General Acland
very foon. The infurre@tion in Alentejo was a fortu-
mate occurrence at this time, and Sir Arthur Wellefley
alfo received information from the Secretary of State,
dated 15th July, that Sir Hew Dalrymple was appointed
10 the command of the forces in Spain and Portugal, and
Sir ‘Harry Burrard fecond in command, And if in
the mean time he was joined by any Officer, fenior in
rank, he (Sir Arthur Wellefley) was to ferve under
him. Of the fame date, ‘Sir Harry Burrard was alfo
acquainted by the Secretary of State that operations
are intended to be dire&ted, in the firlt inftance, to the
reduction of the Tagus, and fecondly, to the fecurity
of Cadiz, and deftrution of the enemy’s force in An-
dalufia.

It appears, that Sir Arthur Wellefley was induced,
from various ftrong reafons, as ftated in his Narrative, to
difembark in Mondego Bay. “This commenced on the
1ft of Auguft; but the furf occafioned great difficulties,
fo that his corps was not all landed before the 5th. * Ge-
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neral Spencer arrived on the sth, and kis edrps on the
6th. They landed on the 7th'and 8th.

It appears, that from the 1ft Auguft till the 8th,
when the whole was difembarked, that meafures were
taking for the immediate movemeént of “the army to-
wards Lifbon, and horfes and carriages weré folicited.
Sir Arthur Wdleﬂey armed the Portugucfe troops, of-
fered money to affift in equipping them for the field,
which was declined by their General Officers, whom he
met on the 7th, and arranged a plan of operations and
march, which was delayed, at their defire, and for
their convenience, till the 1oth, He alfo left full in-
formation of his fituation, intentions, and other cir-
cumftances, for Licutenant-General Sir Harry Burrard,
on his arrival at Mondego (and for whom he had pre-
vioufly left advices at the Berlings, off Peniche, in cafe
of his making that point), and recommended a plan of
operations for Sir John Moore’s corps on its arrival, to
a& towards Santareri and the Tagus. On the Sth, he
renewed his communications to Sir Harry Burrard,
leaying them at Mondego.

It appears, for the many fubftantial reafons enume-
rated in Sir Arthur Wellefley’s Narrative, aud with the
aid of 60oo Portuguefe, from whofe peration he
had reafon to expe& great advantage, but in which
he was fubfequently difappoinited, that he determined
to proceed (without waiting for his expe@ed reinforce-
ments, of which he had been apprized), with his own
army, of 13,600 men (Britifh), againft an enemy who,
he knew, cotld not well produce a greater number in
the field. He advanced by the coaft road towards
Lifbon, for the fubftantial reafon, amongft others, of
preferving his communication with the thipping, from
which alone he could derive his bread: Wine could
be found in all the villages occupied by the army, and
flaughter cattle were furnifhed by contrattors.

It appears, that the army marched, on the gth and
1oth of Auguft, from Mondego, having horfes, al-
though indifferent, for 18 pieces of cannon, for ammu-
nition great ahd {mall, a confiderable ftore of bread, and
a moderate hofpital eftablitiment. The cavalry, about
400, including 200 Portuguefe.

On the roth and 11th, they arrived at Leyria.
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On the r3th, marched to Calveria.

On the 14th, to Alcabaga, where they received bread
and oats, landed at Nazareth.

On the 15th, to Caldas, and halted the 16th, receiv-
ing further fupplies from Nazareth.

t appears, that hitherto the Portuguefe had moved
on his fer:. extending towards the Tagus, but they now
raifed fuch di ies about fubfift and p ding
on the manner Sir Arthur Wellclley thought moft ad-
vifable, that he difpenfed with their co-operation, on
condition they would fend him 1600 men, to be at his
difpofal, and to whom he was to furnifh bread. He
alfo recommended to their General, as a meafure of
fafety, to remain about Caldas, which they did till after
the battle of Vimiera,

On the 17th, there was a very confiderable adtion
near Obidos, with a corps of 6000 men, under Genes,
ral Laborde, who had taken poft in the defiles, and was
forced to retire with confiderable lofs. This and a fmall
previous ation coft usabout 480 men. The army was
that night at Valla Verde, and on the morning of the
18th heard of the arrival of General Anftruther’s bri-
gade on the coaft.

On the 18th, the army marched to Lourinha, and on
the 1gth to Vimiera, where it halted on the 20th.—
‘This day Brigadier-General Anftruther’s brii;‘de (2400
men) joined, and Lieutenant-General Sir Harry Bur-
rard arrived off Marceira in the afternoon.

On the 21ft, early in the morning, Brigadier-Gene-
ral Acland’s brigade (1750 men) landed, and joined
the army.

It appears, that when Sir Arthur Wellefley was at
Leyria, the enemy had the two confiderable advanced
corps of Laborde and Loifon in their front, which Sas
he moved on with a Portuguefe corps on his left, as far
as Alcabaga) fell back towards iifbon, and joined
Junot, who had affembled, by the 2oth, from 12 to
14,000 men, at Torres Vedras, about eight miles from
Vimiera. Calculating probably, that the weather might
difappoint the landing of Anftruther’s and Acland’s
brigades, whom he muft have efpied in the offing’on the
wh and 20th, he determined to attack Sir Arthur

ellefley’s army in its fituation at Vimicra, on the
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21ft, before the jun&ion of fo confiderable a force.
In this enterprife General Junot completely failed. His
attack was repelled in the moft gallant manner, and
with great lofs he was obliged to retreat upon Torres
Vedras, and Cabeca de Monte Chique, where he en-
deavoured to n-aﬂyemble his troogv. The detail of this
honourable a&ion, in which we loft 700 men, is given
in the E dinary Gazette of September 16, publifhed
upon this occafion.

It appears, that Lieutenant-General Sir Harry Burrard
having, on the 21ft July, received notice of Your Ma-
jefty’s appointment of him as fecond in command of the
forces placed under the command of Lieutenant-General
Sir Hew Dalrymple, and having alfo received all ne-
ceffary inftruéi went i liately to Portfr h,
embarked on the 27th, and failed on the 31ft, in the Au-
dacious, together with the flect of tranfports, containing
a corps of 10,000 infantry, commanded by Lieutenant-
General Sir John Moore.

After a continuance of contrary wind and bad wea-
ther, the fleet was near Cape Hniﬂerre on the 16th
Auguft; and it having been recommended to him, that
before he proceeded to the fouthward of Oporto, he
fhould him!{clf gg there, or fend another perfon, to col-
le& information, and meet the fleet at Fea, he fhified,
with feveral Officgrs of his ftaff, to the Brazen floop,
and arriving at Oporto on the 17th, learnt that Sir Ar-
thur Wellefley had landed at Mondego, and proceeded
along the ceait-road to the fouthward.

On the 18th, he arrived off Mondego, and there
found difpatches from Sir Arthur Wellefiey, recom-
mending that Sir John Moore’s coips fhould land at
Mondego, and march upon Santarem, to confine the
movements of the enemy on that fide ; and alfo ftating
that the army muft depend on the tranfports for bread,
and that reliance could not be placed on the refources of
the country,

The difficulty of equipping and fupplying Sir John
Moore’s corps for. an interior operation at a diftance
from the reft of the army, and thinking that if thus
alting feparately, towards Santarem, he muft have been
inferior to the’ enemy if they chofe to puh that way ;
and on enquiry, not having been able to hear of 150
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mules dpromifed by the. Bifhop of Oporto, Sir Harry
Burrard was induced for the prefent to decline the pro-
pofed operation.

Sir Harry Burrard proceeded in the Brazen to the
fouthward, ‘and in the evening of the 1gth received in-
formation of the a&ion of the 17th, near Obidos. He
immediately fent back Lieutenant-Colonel Donkin to
meet Sir John Moore, and dire&ed him to land in the
Mondego Bay ; and under a knowledge of Sir Arthus
Wellefley’s former difpatches (which he {mitted)
t0.a& as he thought moft beneficial to the fervice in his
fupport. He alfo fent off Lieutenant-Colonel Carey to
land at St. Martines, and to communicate with Sir Ar-
thur Wellefley. y g

1t appears, that Sir John Moore did arrive at Mondego
on the 20th ; that he “began to difembark ; that on the
22d he received an order from Sir Harry Burrard, to
re-embark fuch as he had landed, and proceeded to Mar-
ceira; that he arrived on the 24th at Marceira Bay; and
that he difembarked his corps on the days from the 25th
to the 20th, the feveral divifions joining the army as
they landed.

1t jappears, that on the evening of the 2oth of Au-
guft, when Sir Harry Burrard arrived off the landing-
place of Marceira, he was going to land, when Sir Ar-
thur Wellefley came on board, gave an account of the
general ftate of things, and ended by faying, that he
had intended to march the next morning, by five o’clock,
by the Mafrd road, the enemy having affembled his
forces at Torres Vedras,

On detailing the many difficulties to be encountered,
fuch as the impoffibility of leaving his vi@uallers and
the fhose, for any confiderable diftance, the infetior
number of his cavalry, and the ftate of his artillery and
carriage horfes and mules, the ftrength of the ground
he had to go over, which prefented many difficulties, and
the very little dependence which could ‘be placed on the
Portuguefe afliftance, Sir Harry Burrard, on due confi-
deration of all circumftances, decided, that it was more
advantageous to wait for Sir John Moore’s reinforce-
ment, than to run any rifk of defeating the great obje&,
or of facrificing 2 great. many men without its complete
accomplifhment. [In this deterniination, Sir Harry
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. Burrard flates, he was confirmed, by the opinions of
rigadier-General Clinton and Colonel Murray, his
Adjutant and Quarter-mafter Generals.] He therefore
gave orders to Sir Arthur Wellefley. accordingly, that
the army was not to proceed on the morning of the 211
and more efpecially, as. the landing and junion of
General Acland’s brigade, on' the night of the 20th,
was yet plifhed and neceffarily i
Itappears, that Sir Arthur Wellefley returned to Vi-
miera, and Sir Harry Burrard remained on board thip
the. night of the 20th, to complete his neceflary dif~
patches by the return of the Brazen floop. :
During the night of the 20th, and the morning of
the 218, our patroles gave intelligence of the move-
ments of the enemy ; but being inferior in cavalry, they
could go to no diftance, and their reports were vague.
As Sir Arthur Wellefley thought it probable, if he did
not attack the enemy, that they would attack him, he
ptapil’ed to receive them at daylight in the. morning, by
pofting the nine-pounders and ftrengthening his centre,
where he expe@ted the attack; from the manner of the
enemy’s patroling. -

The enemy firft appeared in force on our left, about
eight in the morning, and it was foon obvious that their
attack would be made on our left, and on our advanced
guard before Vimiera ; the pofition of the greater part
of the army was immediately changed by an extenfion
to the left. “The ation commenced, and was concluded,
in the manner detailed in the Extnordinary Gazette, and
terminated in a viory honourable and glorious to the
Britith arms,

It appears, that Sir Harry Burrard had no informa-
tion from, or communication with, Sir Arthur Wellef-
l?v during the night of the 20th; but on the morning
of the 21it, about nine o'clock, juft as he was approach-
w the fhore, he met an officer, fent by Sir Arthur

cllefley, with information, that large bodies of the
enemy had been feen moving towards our. left.—Sir
Harry Burrard proceeded towards Vimiera, wiih as
much expedition as an indifferent horfe would allow, on
a hilly road ; being two and a half miles.from the land-
ing-place. He arrived there before.ten, at a time that
the advanced corps (Anftruther’s and Fane's brigades)

»
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were vigomuﬂ attacked. 'The Officers conductinig Sir
H: urrard paffed through the village, and brought
him to Sir Arthur Wellefley, on the heights behind the
villages, where the left of the army had been originally
pofted.  Here he was informed, faw, and approved of,
the fteps taken by Sir Arthur Wellefley to repulfe the
enemy, and dire@ted him to proceed in the execution of
an operation he had fo happily and fo well begun.

By this time it was evident that the attack upon the
village and advanced corps was not meant to be further
fupported; it was completely repulfed, and the enemy
retired in confiderable confufion. They were fiot fol-
Jowed by the infantry, as the troops had received orders
ot to quit their pofition, without particular order from
Sir Arthur Wellefley. The detachment of the 20th
light dragoons alone purfued, but falling in with a fu-

ior cavalry, were foon obliged to return with con-
fiderable lofs. This order had been very properly given,
on a confideration that the principal effort of the enemy
would ftill be made on our left, and upon this point the
enemy had juft opened his cannonade, and the brigade
under Major-General Fergufon was already engaged at
diftant mufketry. As fupport arrived, he ‘advanced,
and the enemy gave way, abandoning three pieces of
cannon. Major-General Fergufon ftill advanced, and
a mile from where the firft battery was taken, another
alfo was taken. The enemy finally made an attempt
to regain their lalt battery, but were repulfed by the
#71ft and 82d regiments, and obliged to retire with great
Iofs.

Soon after twelve the firing had ceafed, and the ene-
my’s cavalry were feen from our left, in bodies of about
200, by General Fergufon; and about the fame time
General Spencer faw a line formed, about three miles
in front of our centre.

‘About half-paft twelve, Sir Arthur Wellefley pro-
pofed to Sir Harry Burrard to advance from his right,
with three brigades upon Torres Vedras, and with the
other five: brigades to follow the enemy, who had been
defated by our left.

It appears that the fituation of the army at this mo-
‘ment was—on the right, Major-General Hill’s brigade,
which had not been engaged, was on the height behind
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Vimiera, and at a_diftance of about three miles from
thofe of Generals Fergufon and Nightingale on the left.
In front of Vimiera, and in the centre, were the bri-
gades of Anftruther and Fane, which had been warmly
engaged.  Brigadier-Generals Bowes’s and Acland’s
brigades were advanced on_the heights, towards the
left, in fupport of Generals Fergufon and Nightingale.
Brigadier-General Cravfurd’s brigade was detached rather
to the rear of the left, about half a mile from Major-
General Fergufon, to fupport the Portuguefe troops,
making front in that direction,

It appears, that although the enemy was completely
repulfed, the degree of expedition with which a purfuit
could be d fidering the extended pofition
of thearmy at that time, and the precaution to be taken
againft the fuperior cavalry of the enemy, muft have de-
fended on various local circumftances only to‘be calcu-

ated by thofe upon the fpot.

This very circumftance of a fuperior cavalry retard-
ing our advance, would allow the enemy’s infantry,
without any degree of rifk, to continue their retreat in
the moft rapid manner, till they fhould arrive at any
given and advantageous point of rallying and formation ;
nor did Sir Arthur Wellefley, on the 17th of Auguft,
when the enemy had not h]fylh: cavalry as on the 21ft,
purfue a more inconfiderable and beaten army with any
marked advantage ; for he fays (Gazette Extraordinary)
¢ The enemy retired with the utmoft regularity, and
< the greateft celerity ; and, notwithftanding the rapid
¢¢advance of the Britifh infantry, the want of a fuffi-
“¢ cient body of cavalry was the caufe of his fuffering but
¢littlelofs in the plain”—and again, ¢ He fucceeded in
“effe@ing his retreat in good order, owing principally
¢ to my want of cavalry.”

It may alfo be confidered, that as the attack on our
centre had been repulfed long before that on our left had,
the attacking corps, which, as has been obferved, was
not purfued - (but by the 2oth dragoons, not excceding
150), had time (above an hour) to reaffemble, and to
occupy fuch ground as might afterwards facilitate the
retreat of their right, and that the enemy were atually
and vifibly formed in one or more lines at about threg
miles in front of the centre, .

D2
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From thefe and other fair military grounds, as al-
Towed by Sir Arthur Wellefley ; from thofe that occur
red in Sir Harry Burrard’s firlt interview with Sir Ar-
thur Wellefley ; from the utmoft certainty of the im-
mediate arrival of Sir John Moore’s corps, which, if
they had not ftopt at Mondego Bay, would have been at
Marcceira on the 21t ; Sir Harry ‘urrzrd declined mak-
ing any further purfuit that day, or ordering the army
to march next morning carly.—{In this opinion Sir
Harry Burrard ftates Brigadier-General Clinton and
Colonel Murray concmred.l)

On the 22d, Sir Hew Dalrymple arrived, and af-
fumed the command of the army.

It appears that Lieutenant-General Sir Hew Dal-
rymple having, on the 7th of Auguft, reccived Your
Majelty’s,commands of the 15th July, to take the com-
mand of the forces to be employed in Portugal, and
Spain, and that Lieutenant-General Sir Harry Bur-
rard was to be fecond in command, he failed with the
firlt fair wind from Gibraltar on the 13th of Auguft,
communicated with Lord Collingwood off Cadiz, and
on the 19th with Admiral Sir Charles Cotton off the
Tagus, from whom he received information of the
army under Sir Arthur Wellefley, then landed in Por-
tugal, and alfo that Brigadier-General Acland, with
his Brigade, was on the coaft, Jooking for an opportu-
nity of joining him. Sir Hew Dalrymple failing along
the. coaft with an intention of making Mondego Bay,
Theard of the ation of the 21t ; and that Sir Harry Bur-
rard was arrived ; this determined him to make for Mar-
ceira Bay, where tranfports wereat anchor.  He landed
in Marceira Bay early in the forenoon of the 22d, pro-
ceeded to Vimiera, about two miles and a quarter dif-
tant, and after a fhort converfation with his two pre-
deceffors in command, whofe inftru&@ions were thofe b
which he was to a&, he ordered the army to march earl
in the morning of the 23d, undoubtedly as {oon as it
could be put in'motion after his arrival. g

It appears that in this fituation of things the French
‘G;neﬂ Kell;rmann arrived about noon of the 22d at

imiera, with propofals for a fufpenfion of arms, in or=
der to fettle a definitive C jj”{;r t{e ior
of Portugal by the French army. ' Licutenant-Generals
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Sir Harry Burrard and Sir Arthur Wellefley affifted the
Commander of the forces in the difcuffions that took
place on this fubject ; and it appearing to them, under
all circumftances, as commanding a force a&ing in alli-
ance with the fovereign of Portugal, and combatingin
their own country (from whence we then derived no
material affitance), againft-an enemy in aual poffel-
fion of their capital, their fortreffes, and, in a military

oint of view, of their kingdom, that a Convention, or
E:pilulalion, if the opportunity offered, which- thould
f?peedily and honourably expel ‘the French army from

ortugal, was expedient and advifable, a ceffation of
arms was agreed upon, to terminate at 48 hours notice.
The leading articles of a Convention were alfo fettled,
and General Kellermann returned towards Lifbon, about
nine at night, with the inftrument ftated in the Extra
Gazette of the 16th of Sept, but not to be confidered as
effe@ual without the concurrence of Admiral Sir Charles
Cotton.

Early on the 23d, in_the morning, Lieutenant-Co-
lonel Murray, Quarter-Malter-General, fet out with
the propofed agreement, to procure the concurrence of
the Admiral, and returned in the night of the 24th, with
Sir Charles Cotton’s anfwer, that he could not accede,
but that he would enter into treaty with the Ruffian Ad-
‘miral.

It appears that Sir Charles Cotton having declined
to fan&ion the Ruffian article, the Commander of the
forces conceived the Armiftice to end, and determined
on fending Lieutenant-Colonel Murray to announce the
recommencement of hoftilities, at the end of forty-cight
heurs, in order, if General Junot chofe it, that we
might treat on the remaining articles as a bafis. This
officer had powers to treat without delay. He had the
Commander of the forces’ letter of the 25th, and certain
memoranda of Sir Arthur Wellefley, as laid beford the
Board, which fhewed the exa&t footing on which he
was to a&, as alfo General Kellermann’s fentiments on
the Ruffian queftion. Early on the 27th, communica-
tion ‘was had from General Junot and Lieutenant-Co-
lonel Murray, that a treaty was in agitation, which was
anfwered.

It appears that when the propofed xr’cMy (ratified by
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General Junot) of the 28th Auguft, was broy,
Captain Dalrymple on the 19“:?: he:d-qunelgh R:!
malhal, all the Lieutenant-Generals (Burrard, Moore,
Hope, Frafer, Wellelley) were prefent, Lord Paget
excepted (becaufe not long previoufly fummoned). The
propofed treaty was, however, formally difcuffed. ~ Mi-
nutes of propofed alterations were taken by Sir Arthur
Wellefley, as laid before the Board, and the Commander
of the forces has no reafon to believe that Sir John
Moore, or any of the Lieutenant-Generals that.came
with him, expreffed any difapprobation of the ftate and
terms of the negotiation.

“The treaty, with the alterations propofed, was retranf-
mitted to Licutenant-Colonel Murray. -

It appears when the treaty concluded by Lieutenant=
Colonel Murray on the 30th, was brought by him to
Torres Vedras on the 31& for ratification, the Lieute-
nant-Generals prefent were convened, and Sir Arthur
‘Welleiley was fent for. Lord Paget, who was ata
diftance, did not come, nor did Sir Arthur Wellefley,
his corps having marched that morning. The other
Licutenant-Generals met (Burrard, !V%oore, Frafer,
Hope), the al i made by L Col
Murray were approved, and the treaty then ratified by
the Commander of the forces (Sir Hugh Dalrymple)
with the bation of the Lit Generals pre-

PP

fent.

Some of the articles of the treaty of the 28th, before .

objedted to by the Licutenant-Generals, were altered in
that of the 3oth, and fome other good alterations had
been inferted, not before fuggefted. A comparifon of
the treaty of the 28th, and that ratified, will fhew the
alterations.

The meetings of the Lieutenant-Generals, the Com-
smander of the forces did not call, or confider as regular
councils of war. He fought to benefit from their talents
and experience, by confulting them on exigent cafes,
and by purfuing the meafure be might himfelf deem
moft for the good of Your Majefty’s fervice, after avail-
ing himfelf of the advantage he might draw from their
reafonings, and he does not recollect there was any dif-
fentient opinign on the 31ft, as to the ratification of the
Convention.
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Tt appears that Sir John Moore’s corps having arrived
at Mondego Bay on tge 2oth of Auguft, .bcﬁsm to Jif-
embark ; that they re-embarked, and arrived off Mar-
Ceira Bay on the 24th ; that from the 25th to the 29th
they landed under confiderable difficulties, and fuccef-
fively joined the army at Torres Yod_ns.

It appears that fome of the principal advantages to
arife from the Ci ion were in the 1 of
the Generals.

That it immediately liberated the kingdom of Por-
tugal from the dominion of the French, thereby reftoring
to the inhabitants their capital and fortreffes, their prin-
cipal fea-ports, their perfonal liberty, property, reli-
gion, and eftablifhed government. d

That it relieved a great extent of Spanifh frontier
from all apprehenfions of an enemy, and the whole of
Spain from that of having an enemy behind them, and
allowed all parts of Spain to take more effeétive mea-
fures for its general defence ; as well as permitted Por~
tugal immediately to contribute for their mutual fup-

P

rt. 3
PoThit it enabled the Britih army immediately to enter
Spain, if required, by central routes, while it tranf-
ported the French force toa very diftant part of their own
coaft, far removed from the Spanifh frontier.

That it immediately releafed 4000 Spanifh foldiers,
and fent them to the defence of Cataloniaj; it alfo re-
leafed from the Portuguefe fronticr another body of 2000
Spanifh troops. The Pom;gucfe army alfo became dif- .
pofable for the common caufe.

To the men of war and tranfports, which, at this
feafon of the year, with great difficulty could keep their
fRation near the coaft, and on whofe prefence the fupplies
:nd'(lmpenlians of the army depended, the opening of
the Tagus afforded immediate fhelter.

It is further urged by the Generals, as much more
than probable, that if the enemy had been required to
lay down their arms, and furrender prifoners of war,
they would not have complied ; but if driven to extre.
mity, that they would have retired upon Lifbon, rein~
forced by 6000 Ruffians, who muft have been thus com-
Pelled (o fhare their fate ; and in the temporary attack of

5
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this_city, much calamity and deftru@ion muft have
enfued. . "

Alfo that, mafters of the Ruffian fleet, and of the
Boats and fhipping in the Tagus; the paffage of the rivet
was enfured to them ; that they could have defended,
for a confiderable time, its eaft bank, and prevented the
occupation of the Tagus by our fleet ;' that, with the
ftrong fortrefles of Alentéjo in_ their poffeffion, they
could have protratted a deftrudtive war, to the great de-
triment of Portugal and the Spanifh caufe, by finding
emplogment for the greater part of the Britifh army, for
the remainder of the year, and whofe difficulties and
l«;’fll‘es in_fuch operation muft have*been very confider-
able.
. It appears, that the forts on the Tagus were_taken
poflefion of on the 2d of September, by the Britifh
troops, and the port was then opened to our fhipping :
that on the sth the army had its right at St. Juliens, and
its left on the heights of Bellas: that on the 8th or gth
a Britifh corps marched into Lifbon, to enfure the tran-
quillity of that city, during the embarkation of the
enemy, who were all fent off (except the laft divifion,
purpofely detained) before the end of the month, and
part of the Britith army was then acually on its routé
towards the Spanifh frontier.
_ It appears that, during the difcuffion, and afterwards
during the execution of the Convention, much firmnefs
was fhewn in refifting the pretenfions and imeg;mations
of the enemy ; every ftipulation being reftriéted to its
fair, h ble, and g ical i and the
French not allowed to carry off, but obliged to difgorge
‘plunder, which they affeted to confider as private pro-
erty.
% Ity appears that pains were taken to mifreprefent and
raife a clamour in Portugal againft this Convention ;
but when it was generally known, and its effecs felt,
the people of Lifbon, and of the country, feem to have
exprefied their gratitude and thanks for the benefits at-
tending it

Tt has been urged by Sir Hew Dalrymple, and al-
lowed by Major-General Spencer, that in Egypt,. in

1801 (after the viGory of the 21ft of March, the
French having thrown their whole force into Alexan-
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dria and Grand Cairo, about 10,060 men in each place),
that at the fiege of Alexandria, in Auguft, the country
was in the full poffeffion of the Britifh and Tur!:s. The
garrifon, cut off from every poffibility of relief, could
only have held out fome days, when a capitulation
was granted to it, September the 2d, as favourable as
the Convention” of Cintra to the army of Junot (of
24,000 French, and 6000 Ruffians), and pecfeétly fimi-
Tar in all the chief articles of men, baggage, artillery,
conveyance, &c. ; alfo, that the fame terms had been
previoufly granted t6 the garrifon of Cairo, under much
the fame circumftances. By thefe’ two Conventions,
or Capitulations, above 20,000 French evacuated Egypt,’
and the Britifh army was _left difpofable for other pur-

S,

“ On the whole it appears, that the operations of the
army under Sir Arthur Wellefley, from his landing in
Mondego Bay the 1ft of Auguft, until the conclufion
of the action at Vimiera, the 21t of Auguft, were high-
1y honourable and fuccefsful, and'fuch as might be ex-

edted from a diftinguifhed General' at the head of a

ritith army of 13,000 men, augmented on' the 20th
and 21t to 17,000, deriving only fome fmall aid from
a Portuguefe corps (1606 men),” and againft whom an
enemy, not exceeding 14,000 men in the field, was op-
pofed; and this before the arrival of a very confiderable
reinforcement from England, undér Licut,-General Sir
John' Moore, which however did arrive and join the
atmy, from the 25th to the 30th of Auguft, -

It appears a point on which no evidence adduced can
enable the Board to pronounce with confidence, whether
or not a purfuit after the battle of the 21ft," could have
been efficacious; nor can thie Board feel confident to
d ine on the expedi of a forward to
Torres Vedras, when Sir Harry Burrard has ftated
weighty confiderations againft fuch’ a meafure. Further,
it is to be obferved, that fo mm'y‘collueml circum-
ftances could not be known in the’ moment of the ene-
my's repulfe, as afterwards became cledr to the army,
and have been reprefented to the Board. And confider-
ing the extraordinary circumftances under which two
new Commanding Generals arrived from the ocean, and
joined the army (the one during, and the other imme-

®
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diately after, a battle, and thofe fucceffively fuperfed-
ing each other, and both the, original Commander with-
in the fpace of 24 hours), it is not furprifing that the
army was not carried forward, until the fecond day
after the a&tion, from the neceffity of the Generals be~
ing acquainted with the alual ftate of things, and of
their army, and proceeding accordingly.

It appears that the Convention of Cintrain all its pro-
grels and conclufion, or at leaft all the Erincipal articles
of it, were not obje@ed to by the five diftinguifhed
Licutenant-Generals of that army ; and other'General
Officers who were on that fervice, whom we have had
an opportunity to examine, have alfo concurred in the

t ads ges that were immediately gained, to the
country of Portugal, to the army and navy, and to the
general fervice, by the conclufion of the Convention at
that time.

On a deration of all ci ft as fet forth
in this Report, we moft humbly fubmit our opinion,
that no further military proceeding is neceffary on the
fubjet. Becaufe, howfoever fome of us may differ in
our fentiments refpeing the fitnefs of the Convention
in the relative fituation of the two armies, it is our una-
nimous declaration, that unqueftionable zeal and firm-
nefs appear throughout to have been exhibited by Licut,
Generals Sir Hew Dalrymple, Sir Harry Burrard, and
Sir Arthur Wellefley, as well as that the ardour and
gallantry of the relt of the officers and foldiers, on
every occafion during this expedition, have done honour
to the troops,and refle@ed luftre on Your Majefty’sarms.

All which is moft dutifully fubmitted. 4

(Signed) Davio Duxpas, General,
Moira, General.
Perer Crailg, General,
HeaturieLp, General.
Pemsroks, Lieut.-Gen.
G. NucenT, Lieut.-Gen.
Ot. Nicorts, Ligut.-Gen.

Diéc. 22, 1808,
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Judge Advocate General's Office, Dec. 27, 1808.

In confequence of the following letter from His
Royal Highnefs the Commander in Chief, to General
Sir David Dundas, as Prefident, viz.

SI8, Horfe Guards, Dec. 25, 1808.
The Judge Advocate General having delivered to
me, to be laid before His Majefty, the feveral papers and
ds ining all the inations and pro-
ceedings taken before the Board of Enquiry, of which
you are the Prefident, together with your report and
opinion upon the whole of the late operations of His
Maj:ﬂy‘s forces in Portugal, as conne@ed with the
Armiftice and fubfequent C: ion of Cintra, I think
it incumbent on me to ftate to you, that although the
report is fully detailed, and perfe@ly explanatory of
all the tranfaions as they appeared in evidence before
ou ; yet upon a due confideration of the whole matter,
t certainly appears that your opinion upon the condi-
tions of the Armiftice and Convention, which the words
of His Majefty’s warrant expreflly enjoin fhould be
ftrictly examined, enquired into, and reported upon,
has been altogether omitted.

I feel it my duty, therefore, tocall your attention to
thefe two principal features of this important cafe, the
Armiftice and Convention, and to defire that you may
be pleafed to take the fame again into your ferious
confideration, and fubjoin to the opinion which
have already given upon the other points fubmine\r::
your examination and enquiry, whether, under all the
circumftances which appear in evidence before you, on
the relative fituation of the two armies, on the 22d of
Auguft 1808, it is your opinion that an Armiftice was
advifable, and if fo, whether the terms of that Armif-
tice were fuch as ought to have been agreed upon; and
whether upon a like confideration of the relative fitua-
tion of the two armies fubfequent to the Armiftice,
and when all the Britifh forces were landed, it is your

opinion that a Convention was advifable, and if fo, whe-
ther the terms of that Convention were fuch as ought
10 have been agreed upon. ‘

E2
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1 am the more defirous that you thould refume’the
confideration’ of thefe two points, the Armiftice and
Convention, as it appears upon the face of your Report,
that a difference of opinion exifts among the Members
of the Board, which may probably produce a diffent
from the majority upon‘thefe very queftions. You will
be pleafed, therefore, to defire fuch of the Members as
may be of a different opinion from the majority upon
thefe two queftions, to record upon the face of the pro.
ceedings their reafons for fuch diffent.

I am, Sir, yours,
(Signed) FREDERICK,
Commander in Chief,
Gen, Sir David Dundas, K. B.

The Board met this day at the Judge Advocate Ge-
neral’s Office, when the faid letter having been read,
they agreed that the following queftions fhould be put
to each of the Members of the Board :—

APPROVE. Do you, or do you DISAPPROVE.
Lt.-Gen. Nicolls not approveof the | Earl of Moira.
Lt.-Gen. Sir G. Nugent | Armiftice as con-

Earl of Pembroke cluded on the 22d

Yord Heathfield of Aug. 1808, in

General Craig the relative fitua-

Gen. Sir D. Dundas tion of the two
armies ?

APPROVE. Do you, ordnzou DISAPPROVE.
Lt.-Gen. Sir G. Nugent | not approveof the | Lt.-Gen. Nicolls
Gen. Lord Ce nti arl of
Gene i cluded upon the s Earl of Moira

ral Craig
Gen. §ir D. Dundas 31ft of Aug. 1808,
in the relative fi-
tuation of the two
armies ?

(Signed) DAVID DUNDAS, Prefident.

My reafon for confidering the Armiftice as advifable,
on the a2d of Au‘guﬁ was, becaufe the enemy had
been able to retire after the battle of the 21ft, and take
up a ftrong defenfive pofition.

Ot. Nicorss, L. Gs
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1 think, confidering the igren increafe of our force
from the firft fulpenfion of hoftility to the definitive
figning of the Convention, added to the defeat the
enemy had fuffered, Sir Hew Dalrymple was fully en-
titled to have infifted upon more favourable terms.

Or. Nicorws, L. G.

1 approve of the Armiftice aftera due confideration
of the relative fituations of the two armies on the even-
ing of the 22d of Auguft, but I cannet fully approve
of the whole of the C ion, after a due conlfi
tion of the relative fituation of the two armies at that
time ; becaufe it does not appear.to me that, in the pro-
grefs of the negotiation, fufficient ftrefs was laid upon
the great advantages which had refulted, or were likely
to refult, from the former fuccefsful operations of the
Britith army in the field, from the confiderable rein-
forcements which had joined it, fubfequent to the com-
mencement of the negotiation, from the caufe in which
the Britith army was engaged being the caufe of Por-
tugal, which gave good reafon to reckon upon the good-
will, if not upon the a&ive affiftance, oiP the majority
of the inhabitants; and, alfo, from the unufual readi-
nefs which, as it appears to me, was manifefted by
General Junot to enter into negotiation, and by the
French negotiator to accede to terms as they were pro-
pofed, and to fuch conftruion as Lieutenant-General
Sir Hew Dalrymple put upon them in fome inftances,
where they might have borne a difference of interpreta-
tion. I therefore think it probable, for the above rea-
fons, that if lefs favourable terms to the French army

had been infifted upon, they would have been acceded
to.

PemBrokE, Lieutenant-General,

1 feel lefs awkwardnefs in obeying the order to detail
my fentiments on the nature of the Convention, becaufe
that I have already joined in the tribute of applaufe due
in other refpe@s to the Officers concerned. My opi-
mion, therefore, is only oppofed to theirs on a queftion
of judgment, where their talents are likely to have fo
much more weight, as to render the profeffion of my

nce, even on that point, fomewhat painful.
4 ¢
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duty is, however, imperious on me not o difguife or
qualify the dedu&ions which I have made during this
inveitigation.

An Armiftice fimply might not have been objection-
able, becaufe Sir Hew mple, expe&ing hourly the
arrival of Sir Jehn Moore’s divifion, might fee more
advantage for himfelf in a fhort fulpenfion of hoftili-
ties, than what the French could draw from it. Butas
the Armiftice involved, and in faé efiablithed, the whole
principle of the Convention, I cannot feparate it from
the latter;

Sir Arthut Wellefley has flated, that he confidered his
force, at the .commeéncement of the march from the
Mondego river, as fufficient to drive the French from
their pofitions on the Tagus. That force is fubfequently
joined by above 4cco Britith troops, under Generals
Anftruther and Acland.  The French make an attack
with their wholé difpofable ftrength, and are repulfed
ith heavy lofs; though but a part of the Britifh army
is brought into a&ion. It is difficult to conceive that
the profpe&s which Sir Arthur Wellefley entertained
could be unfavourably altered by thefe events, even had
not the cértainty of fpeedy reinforcements to the Britifh
army exifted.

1t is urged, that, had the French been puthed to ex-
tremity, they would have croffed the Tagus, and have
protra&ted the campaign in fuch a manner as to have
fruftrated the more important view of the Britith Ge-
nerals ; namely, fénding fuccours into Spain.

This meafare muft have been equally feafible for the
French if no viQory had been obtained over them ; but
T confefs that the chance of fuch an attempt fecms to
me affumed againft probability. Sir Hew Dalrymple
notices what he calls “ the critical and embarraffed ftate
of  Junot,” before that General has been prefled by the
Britith army ; and, in explanation of that expreffion,
obferves, that the furrender of Dupont, the exiftence of
the viforious Spanith army in Andalufia, which cut off
the retreat of the French in that dire@ion,” and the uni-
verfal huﬁilh¥ of the Portuguefe, made the fituation of
Junot one of great diftrels. No temptation for the
tranflation of the war into Alentejo prefents itfelf from
this picture; nor doés any other reprefentation give
ground -to fuppofe, that Junot could have contemplated
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meaflure as holding forth any profp:&_but ultimate
:&?n, after much preliminary diftrefs and dlfgra_oe. The
ftrongeft of all proofs as to Junot’s opinion, arifes from
his fending the very morning after the battle of Vis
{lt evacuation of Portugal ; a ftep
which fufficiently indicated that he was fatistied he could
not unly make no effe®ual defence, but could not even
prolong the conteft to take the chance of accidents, He
feems, indeed, to have been without any real refource.

Tt appears in evidence, that of the troops left by him
in Lifbon aad the forts, a confiderable proportion were
of very doubtful quality. Thofe troops on whofe fide-
lity he could confide, had been difmayed by a fignal de-~
feat, and they were fenfible that they had no fuccour to :
Jook to from abroad. To the Britith Generals it was
known, when the Armiftice was granted, that 10,0c0
men under Sir John Moore, as well as the 3d and 42d
regiments of foot, with the 18th dragoons, might be
immediately. reckoned upon ; and although much ad~
vantage hat{ not been drawn from the Ponu}m-,f; troops,
their fupport and the general violence of the country
againft the French, cannot be laid out of this calcu-
lation. P

The difparity of force and of circumftances was, then,
fuch as could leave no doubt that the iffue muft be fa-
vourable to us. 1 do not admit advertence to the diffi-
culties urged as poflible to occur in furnifhing the Bri-
tih army with bread. But, putting afide the obvious
folution, that fuch a temporary privation is not ruinous
to an army wheig cattle can be procured in the country,
this difficulty cannot be well pleaded, if admiffion is to
be given to the fpeculation, that the heavy cannon ne-
cellary for battering forts St. Julien and Cafcaes were to
be got afhore in the bays of the Rock of Lifbon. The
quellion then comes to this: whether the Convention
did (as has been afferted) fecure all the obje@s which
were propofed in the expedition 3 If it did not, it was
not what His Majefty was eatitled to expe& from the
relative fitvation of the two armies,

1 humbly conceive it to have been erroneous to re-
gard the emancipation of Portugal from the Erench, as
the lole or the principal object of ‘the expedition.—

Pon whatever territory we contend with the French, it
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muft be a prominent objeé in the ftruggle to deftroy
their refources, and to narrow their means of injuring
s, or thofe whofe caufe we are fupporting. ~ This
feems to have been fo little confidered in the Con-
‘ention; that the terms appear to have extricated Junot's
army from a fituation of infinize diftrefs, in which it
was wholly out of play, and to have brought it, in a ftate
of entire equipment, into immediate currency, in a quar-
ter too, where it muft interfere with our moft urgent
and interefting concerns.

Had it been impra&icable to reduce the French
armyto lay down its arms unconditionally, ftill an obli-
gation not to ferve for a [pecified time might have been
infifted jupon, or Belleifle might have been prefcribed
as the place at which they fhould be landed, in order
to prevent the poffibility of their reinforcing (at leaft
for a long time) the armies employed for the fubjuga-
tion of Spain. Perhaps a ftronger confideration than
the merit of thofe terms prefents itfelf. Opinion re-
lative to the Britith arms was of the higheft importance,
as'it might infl the confidence of the Spani: or
invite the nations groaning under the yoke of France,
to appeal to |h_il§;oumxy, and co-operate with it for their

S5

ought, therefi to have.

been more than ufually great, which fhould be deemed
fufficient to balance the objection of granting to a very
inferior army, hopelefs in~ circumftances, and broken
in fpifit, fuch terms asmight argue, that, notwithftand-
ing its difparity in numbers, it was ftill formidable to.
its viors., No advantages {eem to have been gained that
would not have equally fsollowed from forcing the enemy
to a more marked fubmiffion. The gain of time as to
fending fuccours into Spain cannot be admitted as'a
plea; becaufe it appears that no arrangements for the
reception of our troops in Spain had been undertaken
previous to the Convention ; and this is without reafon-
ing on fubfequent fads.

'he Convention in Egypt, which has been advanced
as a parallel cafe, appears to me inapplicable. No ob-
je& beyond the diflodgment of the French from Egypt
was there in queftion. In the prefent inftance, the
operation of the Convention upon the affairs of Spain
was a confideration of primary intereft ; and in’ that
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view, the inevitable effe& of fome of the articles offers
itfelf to my mind as liable to material objeétion.

I truft that thefe reafons will vindicate me from the
charge of prefumption, in maintaining an opinion con-~
tradiory to that profeffed by fo many moft refpecable

icers ; for, even if the reafons be effentially erro-
neous, if they are conclufive to my mind (as [ muft
confcientioufly affirm them to be), it isa neceffary confe-
quence that I muft difapprove the Convention.

Moira, General.
December 27, 1808,

. THE END,

—_—
Priated by 8, Gosoell, Little Queen Strvety
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